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--- On commencing at 9:07 a.m.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 3, RESUMED

Mark Elliott, Sworn Previously


John Mauti, Sworn Previously


Paul Pasquet, Sworn Previously

Preliminary Matters:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Okay, here comes the water.  Thanks.

So just before we continue with Mr. Rubin's cross-examination, yesterday Mr. Stephenson requested the opportunity to make submissions regarding the order of cross-examination.  The Board had stated that we will leave it to the parties to work out the order of cross-examination subject to the requirement that neither PWU nor the Society will be last.

Having exercised our authority to establish the procedure with respect to the order of cross-examination, the Board has determined that further submissions on this matter are unnecessary.

So any other preliminary matters?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair, I have two preliminary matters, one just dealing with the general issue relating to the proceeding, and the second being my understanding there is a correction that one of the witnesses wants to make.

With respect to the first preliminary matter and the proceeding itself, I guess one of the concerns that OPG wants to express, I guess, is the fact that so far we have, I think, the total of about 45 undertakings that they have to respond to over the past four panels.

Some concern is that, you know, effectively, parts of those interrogatory -- sorry, of undertaking questions really are things that could have been asked at the interrogatory stage and weren't, and that parties had an opportunity to do so at that time.  And we've already responded, I think, to 1,200 interrogatory questions and a couple of hundred technical conference questions.

And I guess we ask that, as parties are going forward, recognize that there are circumstances that they could have asked they said on an interrogatories fashion rather than doing it here in the proceeding as a way of a technical question by way of undertaking.

So it's a concern, and it may be something that I'll be addressing as we go throughout and when undertakings are addressed.

The other is that we are working hard to try to provide the undertaking responses, and given the number of panels we have, plus the number of interrogatories, it's a bit of a tough sledding that we've got under way, but we're doing our best to provide those responses.  And I think that my understanding is that 14 of those responses of the 45 have been filed to date.

But I guess I ask that if the Panel, you, Madam Chair, could keep that in mind as undertakings are sought, that would be much appreciated.

The second issue relates to a correction that Mr. Pasquet, I believe, wants to make with respect to part of his testimony yesterday.

MR. PASQUET:  So prompted by a number of questions that were asked of this panel by the OEB Staff, we need to correct an item which is on the record.  We were unaware of that when we carried out our testimony yesterday, and, as I said, we do want to correct the record.

So we have reviewed a number of pieces of our evidence, specifically, F2, tab 2, schedule 1, chart 2, plus a number of our submissions, plus the continued ops business case, plus a number of the business plans, and specifically associated with one IR, and that is L-1-67.

We have discovered in the course of re-reviewing our material that, in fact, there is a double count in our evidence associated with the allocation of the fuel channel life management project to continued ops.

The impact of this is we have overstated our revenue requirement for the test period:  Specifically, for 2011, 4.9 million; 2012, 3.9 million.

We regret this error, and we will be adjusting our revenue requirement.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I think those were my questions, so thank you very much for that clarification.

Just if I may, Madam Chair, I just want to make sure I understand what we've heard.

If we were to look for these numbers, you referenced Board Staff 67; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the reference, please?

MR. MILLAR:  I thought you said that -- you took us to Board Staff 67, IR 67?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.  So there's a couple of references we just need to be cognizant of.  Board Staff 67, page 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  Response (b).

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  And it says the associated test period OM&A amounts are 92.9 million plus 11.7.  It should not be the 11.7.

MR. MILLAR:  So that should fall off?

MR. PASQUET:  That should fall off.

MR. MILLAR:  And that was because it was a double count?

MR. PASQUET:  That was a double count.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that's all I have, Madam Chair.

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry.  Sorry, let me just be very clear about this.  The 11.7 was the total amount for the fuel channel life management project for '11 and '12.

The Pickering B allocation of the 11.7 was actually built into the 92 million.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. PASQUET:  Have I... Is it clear to...

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think so.  We'll have a look through all the numbers again, but I think you've explained it, so thank you for that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Just to follow on from that, I guess as a result of that correction, rather than going through and amending the evidence, the applicant's view would be to take into account that change when the payment order is being dealt with.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, we'll take that under advisement.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Evidently, you look like you want to say something, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I didn't want to let my friend's concern about the undertakings go by without saying something.  I'm not going to make submissions, but I wanted to note that we don't agree, and if the Board does want to hear submissions on that, we, of course, would be prepared to do so, but we think it's more appropriate to come up when an undertaking is requested.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We agree, and we'll deal with it at that time.  Thank you.  So, Mr. Rubin, I believe you are...
Continued Cross-Examination Mr. Rubin:

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, panellists, good morning.  We were just getting into your NPV calculation on the continued ops of Pickering B when we stopped yesterday evening -- afternoon.

Has OPG shared the actual calculation that you used for the NPV?  Is there a spreadsheet or something in evidence so we can see how it was done?

MR. PASQUET:  The information on the NPV is no more -- we've not presented anything more than is currently in the evidence.  So, in other words, we have indicated the 11 -- the $1.1 billion in the business case, backup information to support that.  There's no other information than what was indicated in the evidence.

MR. RUBIN:  So you gave the results and you gave a description of, in general, what you did, and you showed some charts of what would happen with a range of inputs, but not the calculation?

MR. PASQUET:  Not specifically the calculation.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I hate to add to a burden of undertakings, but I would have expected and I would like to have the actual calculation so that we can see what was really done.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess, Madam Chair, I mean, we get right into this.  This is the very example, I guess, that I was raising this morning, is that, you know, this evidence relating to the continued ops has been before the Board for quite some time.  We've got gone through a series of pre-hearing processes where the very question that my friend is asking could have been dealt with by way of interrogatory.

And now we're in the midst of the proceeding and asking for it by way of undertaking.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I agree any party could have asked for it at the time of interrogatories.  But that being said, if it's a document that already exists, I'm not quite clear what the incremental work involved is.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess I'm not sure about the incremental work that's involved with it.  It probably does exist, and maybe it's more of an example of the nature of the question as opposed to the production of the document.

And I take your point with respect to the incremental work, but I guess I'm raising a concern more with respect to the fact that the applicant has done its job to come to this proceeding and present its evidence, and the other parties are now seeming to use this as a means to supplement the interrogatory process as opposed to trying the facts that are currently before you.

That's my submission.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So you're not agreeing to provide it unless we --


MR. KEIZER:  No, I'm not saying that.  I'm not saying that. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  You're just registering your concerns?

MR. KEIZER:  I'm registering my complaint.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, let's continue on.  Let's take the undertaking.  The concern is noted, and we will move on.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION OF NPV


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Yesterday you had an exchange with Mr. Stephenson, in which one of you -- I believe it was Mr. Pasquet -- agreed with him that the benefits of the continued ops in your NPV calculation, those benefits exist because Pickering B is a lower-cost generator than the alternatives.  Does that sound familiar?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that in that comparison, you're in fact not comparing the total costs of generation, but you're only comparing avoidable costs or short-run incremental costs?

MR. PASQUET:  Could you be a little more specific?  So the NPV is based on the incremental costs associated with the continued ops project and the running of Pickering B compared to the alternatives.  That's how we did the calculation.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  And it would therefore have nothing do with the original cost of building Pickering B, for example, which is being paid off as part of the total cost of power from Pickering B, but not as part of your incremental analysis; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And the cost of decommissioning is not expected to change, I assume, by running it for another four years?  And so therefore there's no decommissioning cost involved in the comparison?

MR. PASQUET:  I'm not aware of any substantial change in decommissioning costs.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  So to the extent that those factors are left out of what a normal person would call the total costs of power from Pickering B, your analysis does not compare the total cost of power from Pickering B to the cost of an alternative?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  But it does include all the incremental costs associated with the running of the plant.  It does not include decommissioning cost, which as you indicated, were not materially changed, so those costs would be incurred irrespective.  And the other component, which is the costs of construction of Pickering B, those aren't being changed as a result of extending the operation an additional four years.

So I'm not sure -- I'm not sure I understand the materiality.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I was more concerned about statements that seemed to be misleading to me in other contexts, rather than -- it seems to me you have done an analysis, which I hope, you know -- pending looking at the spreadsheet -- which I hope does what you say it does, which is that it looked at the incremental decision, which is a reasonable input to making an incremental decision.

My concern was only because the statements that were made on the record were much broader than that.  And I just wanted to correct the extra breadth.  And I believe we've done that, and I hope we can move on.

You responded to a Board Staff interrogatory; it's their No. 67, which I believe has just been amended.  And I'm only concerned with one statement in it.

In it, you said, and I'll just quote the short statement:

“OPG considers the estimate to be a budgetary estimate with a plus 30 percent to minus 15 percent range."

If you like, we can go dig up the line, and...

MR. PASQUET:  I have the line in front of me.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  So that is what it says, I take it?  And -- that was a "yes"?  You've got to --


MR. PASQUET:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Good.  Do OPG's budget estimates typically have that kind of asymmetrical uncertainty bounds around them?

MR. PASQUET:  So if we look at business cases in the early stages of the development of the project, when they are developed, there is certainly -- not unusual to see a range of plus/minus 15 -- or minus 15 to plus 30 for the development of early stages of business cases.  That would be something that we would see for other projects in the early stages of the development of them.

MR. RUBIN:  And is that there because -- has there been any formal or informal probabilistic analysis?  Did you put those numbers in because you consider them equally likely as error -- probability error bounds?

MR. PASQUET:  So when we did our analysis, we looked at a -- at a range of scenarios to test the project.  And if you refer back to the evidence, and specifically if you refer to -- just give me a second to get the reference.

If you refer to --


MR. RUBIN:  F2-2-3?  Is that...

MR. PASQUET:  F2-2-3, chart number 1.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  There is a sensitivity analysis which is performed on the project, and one of the sensitivities was changing -- or doubling of the incremental costs associated with the project.  And with a double -- doubling those costs, it found to make the project still a positive NPV and didn't significantly -- well, it didn't change significantly the benefit of the project.

So we did test it under a range of scenarios, one of them being the doubling of the costs.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  I don't want to dwell on the incremental costs, and I see from your chart and I have seen from your chart that that is not an especially sensitive variable, according to your analysis.

My question is about asymmetrical error bounds or asymmetrical scenarios.

So you've told me that in early business planning or business case planning, you do in fact use asymmetrical bounds.  I don't recall if I got an answer to my follow-up question, which is:  Do you view -- do you do that asymmetry because you view a 30 percent overage as being roughly as likely as a 15 percent good-news underspending?

MR. PASQUET:  I think that's the range that we would typically find in projects.  And through our experience, we find that is a reasonable range to quote when in the early stages of development of a business case.

MR. RUBIN:  I think one of the things that bothers me, and I'm not sure if there's an answer that's going to come from you, but it seems to me that in doing a prudence review of an expenditure, for example, a regulatory board would like to know how likely the proponents think a bad outcome is going to be, or how unlikely.

And it seems to me every time I ask a question about probability bounds and you respond without using those terms, but instead using the term "scenario," it seems to me you are -- I mean, correct me if I am wrong -- but it sounds as if you are specifically trying not to give guidance on how unlikely you think the outcomes are.

Have you ever given -- for example, let's look at this very chart, which was next on my questions anyway.  It's a chart of sensitivities, and it's a chart of sensitivity to different outcomes.

Let's start with the first line, which you'll agree is not de minimus.  That's very sensitive.

So here is a range of electricity price scenarios from what's called low to high market price.  At the bottom end of it, it's quite clear that the net present value of your project is negative.

Do we agree that that means, if it turns out that way, you would have been better in hindsight not to have done it?

MR. PASQUET:  It would result in a negative NPV for the project.

MR. RUBIN:  It would end up destroying wealth in Ontario, for example, instead of creating it; is that fair?

MR. PASQUET:  There would be an impact on the ratepayers and the rates.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  So this is -- this is not de minimus; this is big stuff.  And my question to you is a simple one.

Where you see the left side of that sensitivity band, and it might turn into a half a billion dollars of down instead of up, what probability do you assign to that kind of outcome?

MR. PASQUET:  So when we did the analysis -- and I will answer your question -- when we did the -- when we did the analysis, we looked at the probability of getting successful result in the fuel channel life management project.  We have quoted a medium probability of success based on the information we know now.

For a specific probability for all the components of the table we have here, we did not do a specific probability assessment on that.  We basically tested the project based on a number of different scenarios.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, thank you for that answer.  But, again, I'm wondering if you can give us any guidance of how shocked, how surprised, how embarrassed you would feel if reality turned out outside any of these error bounds?

MR. PASQUET:  So the only -- the only thing I would comment on is, if you look at the letter that we received from the OPA, in the OPA's letter they did come out and say that they saw a substantial benefit in the Pickering B operations project.  So as we said in our evidence, there's approximately a 1.1 billion NPV.

And in the OPA's letter, they feel there is an equivalent benefit to the people of Ontario, as well. So it is not just OPG's opinion.  It has also been substantiated by what the OPA has said.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I do plan to take you to that letter, and my view of it so far is quite different from yours.  I take it as very heavily qualified.  And you make it sound as if it's a reinforcement of the scenarios you've chosen, rather than a reinforcement of an analysis flowing from scenarios.

I'm assuming that when we review the calculations, we will confirm that your analysis is correct, given the inputs.  What I am asking you about now is how much confidence this Board should have in your choice of inputs, and specifically in the confidence that reality will turn out to be in the range of your scenarios.

And I don't hear you telling me that the low electricity price scenario is the bottom of a 90 percent confidence interval, or the bottom of a 95 percent confidence interval or how many sigmas it is from your best guess.  I don't hear anything of that quantitative sort.  I just hear you saying it seemed like a good low number to put into a scenario.

MR. PASQUET:  I'm not aware of any calculation where they've come up with probabilities associated with that.  I'm not aware of that -- specific probabilities being -- being assigned to those, to the various scenarios.

MR. RUBIN:  I don't think I can get an undertaking for you people to go back and fix that.  If I thought I could, I would.  But it seems to me, if only for future hearings, when we're going back and saying, Wow, look at that, reality turned out very different from the promises we heard.  How different was it?  It would in my submission be very helpful if we could get a sense for how surprised we think you should be, based on your input.

And I hear you saying that if -- you know, correct me if I am wrong.  Is this fair, that if electricity prices -- for example, just to take the big bull in the china shop here, if reality turned out below your low scenario, that wouldn't strike you as the one-in-a-hundred-year storm, much less the perfect storm.  That would just be it did what it did and you chose a scenario, and things happen.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, my friend, I think, has asked the question, and the witness has given an answer with respect to the probabilities associated with these scenarios.  And I guess also with respect to the question itself, I mean, it's more in line of a submission than it is actually of a question.

And, you know, we are doing our best to make our way through this hearing, but we are, you know -- obviously, there is, you know, time constraints and there's been estimates given with respect to cross-examination.  But it seems to me that if we had a question instead of the submission, it would be much more helpful.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rubin, I do believe that you certainly started off more in line of a submission, although at the end I believe what you were doing is putting a proposition to the witnesses regarding the visibility of a particular approach.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I believe I'm trying to get OPG's submission on the roughly -- I understand now it's not going to be quantitative, but on a qualitative submission on how likely the outsides of these bands are.

That's what I'm seeking, because I believe that's the kind of decision that you're going to have to make in doing what I believe is the first prudence review of a serious nuclear rehabilitation in Canada, perhaps the world.  I don't know.  But it's going to fall to you to decide either to approve the spending for this gamble or not to.

And here we have an indication of what the odds seem to be, except we're being told that nobody has calculated odds.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I think -- I understand what you're getting at.  I think you need to -- is there a question from which you can get further evidence?

MR. RUBIN:  Sure, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  If you wanted to put a proposition to the witnesses, do that, but let's put it in the form of a question and we'll move on.

MR. RUBIN:  Can you give any guidance about the kind of probabilities you assign in your mind, or those who created this range of sensitivities, to the low and high scenario of electricity prices:  Extremely unlikely that it would exceed those bounds; stuff happens; I have no idea?

Give me something to go on.  Give the Board something to go on.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the question is the same question he's already asked, which is:  Have you done any assessments related to the probability?  I think the witness has already answered the question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do the witnesses have anything further to add in response to that question?

MR. PASQUET:  I have nothing further to add.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  I think you have the answer you are going to get, Mr. Rubin.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  And just before we leave this chart, you can confirm to me that these sensitivities, for example, the bottom of the electricity price scenario and the number that's associated with it of almost minus $500 million, that's assuming the other variables all come out exactly as you've predicted them on a best-guess or median basis; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.  They're not stacked.

MR. RUBIN:  So you've not done -- I mean, have you anywhere sort of added together what if two things go badly?

MR. PASQUET:  So over the course of the analysis, we've looked at combinations of scenarios.

MR. RUBIN:  And those are in your evidence somewhere and I've missed them, or those are not in your evidence?

MR. PASQUET:  Those are not in evidence.

MR. RUBIN:  And those are not covered by the prior undertaking?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Is it fair to say that the answer is not a simple linear addition of the --


MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  -- bar charts?  Well, I hate to add to the undertaking load, but I believe that is material to the judgment that this Board has to make, and would like to ask that it be produced.

MR. KEIZER:  Can we just clarify the actual -- what is being sought?  I'm not quite sure in what format this material is available or whether it's computer programs, or whatever it is, in terms of how scenarios were run.  So I'm reluctant to just simply say that's the way it is.

MR. RUBIN:  I'll be happy to defer to Mr. Pasquet to draft the undertaking, and I think we'll probably be happy to agree, because he knows what exists.

MR. KEIZER:  So as I understand it, what you're requesting is to provide documentation as to scenarios given where two or more events were considered to have occurred?

MR. RUBIN:  Sounds reasonable.

MR. KEIZER:  And I guess I look for some guidance from the witness as to whether that is something that is even possible.

MR. PASQUET:  I'm sorry.  I apologize, I wasn't paying attention.  I was trying to listen to Mr. Elliott.  The question was?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess what we're discussing is how the IR gets framed -- sorry, not IR.  Sorry.  It is an IR, anyway, we're now at the point of dealing with it as an undertaking.  And the undertaking request that's there is the fact that -- is it possible to produce documentation showing scenarios where two or more events shown on this chart 1, I guess, or scenarios that give rise to issues related to chart 1, had been considered, and whether or not that documentation is available, and in what format.

MR. PASQUET:  So we would need to go and talk to the people who actually physically did the analysis to see what was available, in what form it was available, and then I think we'd have to review that to see whether it was suitable to present.  But from my understanding, there has been -- some limited scenarios that have been done.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  That's good enough for an undertaking.  We don't have to edit it down to a shorter version.  I mean, I think we could, but it would take time.  Is that clear enough?

MR. KEIZER:  But again, I guess I go back to my opening submission about the whole issue of this could have been dealt with earlier, and we now have to go back and do a great deal more work, rather than something that could have been dealt with through the interrogatory process.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I will say yes, it could have been dealt with during the interrogatory process.  That being said, it's the Panel's view that this is information that is relevant to the decision that needs to be made.  It appears that the analysis has been done; this is not a request for new analysis.

And therefore we will require it to be produced.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  TO PRODUCE DOCUMENTATION, IF AVAILABLE, AS TO SCENARIOS GIVEN WHERE TWO OR MORE EVENTS GIVING RISE TO ISSUE SHOWN ON CHART 1 WERE CONSIDERED TO HAVE OCCURRED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can I just interrupt for one second?  I'm sorry to pipe up.

For both of these last two undertakings, is it possible to get the Excel version of these models so that we can do our own sensitivity analyses?

Sometimes we get them in PDFs that basically require us to spend hours reconstructing the spreadsheet.

If it is in Excel, I wonder if we can get it in Excel.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, the only question is whether there's anything proprietary about its format.  And if there is, then we may not be able to provide something in a live version.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But you would advise us of that?  So that we could address that issue, should it be required.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Obviously, yes.  We will address that issue.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. RUBIN:  I know this life extension project is not what you technically call a refurbishment, but if we can just use that word in its simple language sense, or use some synonym for it, is this the biggest nuclear refurbishment you people have done since the Pickering A restart?

MR. PASQUET:  This is certainly not the biggest project we've undertaken.  This is an initiative which basically consists of a number of discrete activities.

When you look at the activities in isolation, for example, water lancing, which we currently already do and it's part of our existing plan, if you look at some of our fuel channel maintenance activity, it's currently things we already do and are already part of our plan.

If you look at a number of the other activities, they're all things that we currently do.  The only one which is slightly new is actually carrying out the fuel channel life management project, which is a research project on its own.

If you take those series of projects, which on their own are not more than what we currently do in existing project portfolio, and you aggregate them together, then, yes, that looks -- that looks like a fairly substantial project.  But if you break it down to -- on an individual basis, it is activities which are either currently ongoing or currently a part of our plan.  And so if you aggregate them, they look like a big project.  But distinct, broken up, then they are -- they are things that we currently are already doing today.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Pasquet, correct me if I am wrong, but isn't the COOP a package of programs to extend the life of Pickering B four years, for each reactor, a series of activities that would not be done if you were not planning to extend the life of those reactors four years each?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  But the actual activity -- for example, let's just take water lancing for an example.  We currently water lance today.

MR. RUBIN:  Other reactors under other circumstances?

MR. PASQUET:  The Pickering B reactors, we currently lance the Pickering B reactors today in order to keep the boilers clean.  And so for the Pickering B continued operations project, we need to do a bit more than what we were currently planning on doing if we were going to stop life at 2014.

So the actual activity is basically more of what we are currently doing today.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Yes, I understand that distinction.  Thank you.

If we look at this as an incremental package of activities, some of which are the continuation of routine
-- that's what I hear you saying.

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Is that some of this is the continuation of routine maintenance which you would have stopped doing at end-of-life or before end-of-life, except you're extending end-of-life, so you're not going to stop.  That's what I hear you saying.

Roughly, is it like half of the total price tag of this COOP is -- consists of that kind of continued routine maintenance, or a third or...

MR. PASQUET:  I would say the component which is new activity is only the fuel channel life management component, which would, I would say, would be about 10 to 20 percent of the entire package.

The balance of the activities are things that we are currently doing today as part of maintaining the reactor, the plant.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

We talked before about how you get from your best estimate to OPG's stated 300 million estimate.  And you referred to it as, I believe, as rounding up the number twice.  Is that about right, that it was rounded up to 250, and then 250 was rounded up to 300?

MR. PASQUET:  So -- so if you take the 190, you add the budgetary estimate, which we said, which we just talked about was plus 30 percent, when you add the 30 percent and then you round it up, then you get 300.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Okay.  Let me move on.

And I will now turn to a document you've already mentioned which is attachment 2 to F2-2-3, the letter from OPA's Amir Shalaby, commenting on the decision to do the continued operation.

And I guess my first question is:  Were you your plans reviewed by any independent reviewers who aren't former colleagues of yours?

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry, what -- the continued ops project?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, was this project reviewed by -- I mean, I think many of us know Mr. Shalaby, a fine gentleman.  I'm not impugning his integrity.  He is a former Hydroid.  He is a former colleague of yours.

Is this the most independent review that's been done?

MR. PASQUET:  So the -- so in the aspect of the majority of the project, the answer is no, it is our own internal review that has basically said that this is a viable project.

The only thing I would add to that is the fuel channel life management project is, in fact, a COG project where OPG is working in conjunction with Bruce Power to actually physically determine the available life in the -- in our pressure tubes.  And so that is a co-operative project not only between OPG; Bruce Power is involved, and so is AECL.  So we are working together as an industry on this particular component.

So that is -- that is an industry project as opposed to just an OPG alone, but the other activities outside that fuel channel life management project, no, we have not independently reviewed.  And part of the reason is -- is the -- we already have well established life cycle plans for our major components.  The life cycle plans are reviewed by the regulator.

And so we feel, based on the plans we currently have and the level of review that's done, that a further independent review is not warranted.

MR. RUBIN:  But correct me if I am wrong.  When reactors are reaching their end-of-life and their pressure tube end-of-life, and you're considering whether to shut them down, you've already ruled out replacing their pressure tubes, so that now you're thinking of either shutting them down forever or doing a series of activities and making a series of investments that would extend their lives four years.

That's the first time this has come up in Canada in any CANDU reactor, isn't it?

MR. PASQUET:  So the determination of the precise end-of-life of the pressure tubes is basically a subject that the industry is dealing with.

Quite frankly, we have basically, essentially, all the experts on pressure tubes and the metallurgy associated with pressure tubes working on this particular project, both at Bruce Power, both at AECL, and both with OPG.  And so fundamentally, we have the bulk of the expert community who is actually working on this, to determine if, in fact, it is feasible to operate these units to 240,000 full-power hours.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, I'm under the gun here.  I wish you would start with a response that's directly to the question.

This is the first.  My question was not whether there are a bunch waiting behind you.  This is the first reactor to come to that stage and have this kind of analysis and be considering this kind of life extension, is it not?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  And the interests of the other industry partners that you've mentioned is because they're standing behind you, and if it works for you, they might try it, too, or they might learn something from your analysis.  That's their interest, in general?

MR. PASQUET:  We're working collaboratively.  We're not working -- OPG's not the only one doing the project work.  We're working collaboratively to determine when, in fact -- the amount of life that's left in the pressure tubes.

MR. RUBIN:  But the other partners who were working collaboratively with you, their interest is not primarily in Pickering B pressure tubes.  Their interest is in their pressure tubes or other pressure tubes, is it not?

MR. PASQUET:  Right.  But the issues are generic, though.

MR. RUBIN:  Understood.  Turning to the substance of Mr. Shalaby's letter, on page 2 there's a section in italics.  And is the authorship of that example is, frankly, not clear to me.

Is that an example that Mr. Shalaby or OPA put together using OPG numbers?  Is that your understanding?

MR. PASQUET:  So they did use the 104 terawatt-hours.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  That is the number that we provided them.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.

MR. PASQUET:  But the balance is theirs.

MR. RUBIN:  The $1.6 billion overall system benefit, that was their calculation based on adding 104 terawatt-hours?

MR. PASQUET:  We provided them the 104 terawatt and they did the calculation.

MR. RUBIN:  So the $15 per megawatt-hour number is theirs?

MR. PASQUET:  That's my understanding.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Gas prices in the range of $6 per MMBTU to 8, that was not something that came from you.  That was their range?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And I'd like to direct you to -- well, first of all, in that comparison, I think you'll agree with me that the phrase "up to" appears a number of times, including in the bottom line, that the benefit could be "up to" $1.6 billion.  Do you see that?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, that's what it says.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  And would you agree with me that that suggests that this is not a median estimate, but this is pushing toward the right of your bands on the chart we looked at a moment ago?  This is --


MR. PASQUET:  I can't comment on the substance.  Basically the words say "up to", and that was the OPA's judgment at that point.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  But if you were estimating what the benefits of your -- what the NPV of your plan could be up to, you would come up with a higher number than you came up with, would you not?

MR. PASQUET:  If you look at the sensitivity chart, I believe -- and I just need to refer to the sensitivity chart.  I'm not too sure if it stops at 1.6.  It in fact goes higher.

MR. RUBIN:  It is much higher.  It goes up to -- it is not what you forecast.  You forecast a median estimate?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.  But if you look at the range of sensitivities, there's a very broad range there.

MR. RUBIN:  Of course.  And there's a "down to" that is --


MR. PASQUET:  As I said, there's a broad range.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  I just want to establish Mr. Shalaby did not present "down to" and he did not present median.  I just want to make that clear.

Turning to the first paragraph after the italicized example, it says, does it not, that under some circumstances system benefits could be substantially reduced or they could even become negative.  Do you see that?

MR. PASQUET:  I see that.

MR. RUBIN:  And Mr. Shalaby lists some factors that could create those unfortunate results, in his view.  Do you see those?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Could you read me out those factors?

MR. PASQUET:  So these include lower than expected system demands, lower than expected gas or carbon prices, or higher than expected continued operations costs.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Now, turning to those variables, isn't it true that every single one of those variables, looking at its actual value today, is lower than you expected it to be a few years ago?  Worse?

You know, the system demand has been going down now for perhaps five years.  Did OPG predict that five years ago?  Isn't that a surprise?  Isn't that outside of -- basically, I'm asking you:  Hasn't reality surprised you in the negative direction in precisely that factor?

MR. PASQUET:  So when we put our -- when we put our business case together, we looked at a range, a range of values.  We looked at a range of load growth.  We looked at a range of gas prices.  We looked at a range of system energy values.  And basically this -- we had a high, a medium, and a low.  Basically, our business case is based on a range of values, of which we think the median -- which is the one that we think is the likely case.  That's the way we put -- that's the way we put the business case together.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, with all due respect, when I take advice from a financial advisor or somebody else who's telling me to invest money, I have a number of questions.  One is:  What do they really believe, and the other one is:  What's their record?  And I'm not asking you anymore what you really believe.  We've gone through that.

Now I'm asking you:  What's your record?  And I'm asking you specifically in this highly sensitive variable, which Mr. Shalaby has flagged, system demands, what's your record?  Were -- has the decline in system demand over the last five years been something you predicted, or is it something that was -- would have been outside your bands if you presented bands five years ago?

MR. KEIZER:  The examiner is asking a question on a hypothetical, which is based upon whether -- it's not within the business case that they're putting forward in terms of continuing ops.  Actually, we're talking about something five years ago, in circumstances that I have no idea from the question what they actually entail, other than, you know, did we have the benefit of hindsight five years ago with respect to what forecasts were?

I mean, it seems to me that --


MR. RUBIN:  With respect, Mr. Keizer, I'm asking about the corporation's foresight, not the corporation's hindsight.  We all know how it turned out in hindsight.  We're now being asked to trust the foresight, and I'm trying to gauge how solid that is on a historical basis.

MR. KEIZER:  Against what?

MR. RUBIN:  Against reality.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, what's your reality?  I haven't been able to figure that out yet.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Gentlemen.  Mr. Rubin, is the question that -- I'm having some difficulty understanding the question.  So perhaps I will repeat it back to you in the way I understand it, and see if I'm correct, so that I can better understand the issue.

With respect to these factors that are identified in this paragraph, the expected system demands and presumably the other factors, as well, you are interested in knowing how successful OPG has been in the past at forecasting system demand?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, system demand, gas prices, carbon prices and operation costs, all the variables, exactly.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So the question is:  Is this the kind of forecasting that OPG has done number the past?  Has it done any analysis of how accurate it has been at that?  Is that the question?

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Witnesses?

MR. PASQUET:  I can't comment on a previous record of our ability to predict gas and system capacity.  I can't comment on that.

MR. RUBIN:  Are you the person who put together or directed the NPV analysis?

MR. PASQUET:  I'm the person that directed the NPV analysis; correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Including the choice of the median values for these key inputs?

MR. PASQUET:  No, the choice was based on our -- we have a group that looks after development of these types of business case, and I did not mandate what was the high, medium or low.  It's based on their system analysis, their experience, and there's people in that group with many years' experience.  They basically produced what they thought was the best judgment.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me turn to the last one, which is one that is, I think, squarely in your bailiwick, and that is operation costs.

Is it fair to say that when we're worried about higher than expected continued operation costs on nuclear reactors, that in fact the experience -- the evidence that's before us here is that -- for example, comparing forecasts from the last hearing to reality in this hearing, we have in fact experienced higher than expected operating costs?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PASQUET:  So if you reference base OM&A, I'm not too sure I'd come to that conclusion.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Let me move on.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rubin, are you approaching your conclusion, because you've gone substantially longer 
than --


MR. RUBIN:  Yes, I have.  I'm sorry, I was between a bad estimate of how long this would take, I guess, is the main thing.  That's forecasting.  I beg your pardon.  I believe I'm looking at 10 or 15 minutes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.

MR. RUBIN:  When did OPG start correcting anybody who referred to the Pickering A restart – return-to-service project as a refurbishment?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I'd just comment that it was always called a Pickering A return-to-service, the parts program.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. ELLIOTT:  So it was always called that from the beginning.


MR. RUBIN:  By insiders?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That was the name of our project.

MR. RUBIN:  Would it surprise you to hear that the Minister of Energy of Ontario referred to it as a refurbishment while it was going on?

MR. ELLIOTT:  It wouldn't surprise me, but internally --


[Laughter.]

MR. RUBIN:  Would it surprise do you hear that a document from the OECD, International Energy Agency review in Canada referred to it as a refurbishment?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I have seen it referred to as refurbishment.

MR. RUBIN:  And I have referred to it -- sorry.  Beg your pardon.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, let me try again.  Yes, I have seen it referred to as a refurbishment, but every time that OPG talks about it, we talk about it as a return-to-service, because that was the original intent.

MR. RUBIN:  Understood.  But I mean, I myself have been apparently guilty, I'm now finding out, of using these as synonyms, and only recently have I been rapped on the knuckles.

And I guess I'm just wondering what changed.  There was a lot of work done; we've established that.  Some of that work, looking at individual parts, was clearly refurbishing components.  You'll agree with that?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I'm not sure -- I think --


MS. CHAPLIN:  What the point is?

MR. KEIZER:  What the point is, yes.  Thank you.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, the point was to put in evidence some sort of comparison between what was done in that case, whose outcome is well-known, and what's being planned in this case in the mini-refurbishment, the not -- by no means a refurbishment of Pickering B.

MR. PASQUET:  There was one -- I believe there's a question, and it will take me a second to go through the reference, but there is a question at the technical conference that talks to the difference.

And if -- I'll let Mr. Elliott answer the question, but there is a reference in the technical conference.  So if you would bear with me, we can --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, a reference to the difference between a return-to-service and a refurbishment?  Or a reference to the different –-

MR. PASQUET:  Yes.  That is correct.  That is correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think Mr. Rubin's after the difference between a return-to service and the continued operation; is that correct?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay.  I'm sorry.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, they're related.  I guess I'm -- that reference will be helpful.  But let me hear Mr. Elliot's response.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Really, one of the key differences was the -- doing a condition assessment of the plant before doing a full scoping of the work, deciding what was needed to be done.

That was what was missing in the -- or different in the two.  So there's been a much more detailed condition assessment that was done as part of the refurbishment, getting ready for refurbishment of Pickering B, much more detailed, system-by-system, component-by-component, what is going to be needed to keep it going, keep the plant going. 

And that was not done --


MR. RUBIN:  Why?

MR. ELLIOTT:  -- at Pickering A.  There was some condition work done, but not in the detail that has -- that we know now is needed.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Well, with a wow, I will then say that ends my cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.

Mr. Shepherd? 
We'll probably break around 10:30, so I believe you expect about an hour, so whenever you find a convenient spot. 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And that was going to be my first question.  I may actually be slightly more than an hour, but if the Board will indulge me, I had 30 minutes for panel 5 and I now have zero, so maybe I can switch them around.

My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I have a package of cross-examination materials which was sent to your counsel last night.

Madam Chair, copies have been provided for the Panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K5.1, the School Energy Coalition compendium of documents.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, through the magic of PDF, we were able to add five pages last night, but sadly, while the technology allows you to do that, the stapler didn't, so we had to clip them together.

I have questions in six areas.  And they're sort of disparate, so I'll just deal with them one at a time.

The first is Darlington costs.  In that respect, I wonder if, witnesses, you can turn to page 4 of our materials which you -- this is your FTE chart.  Do you have that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So as a result of your conversation yesterday with Mr. Millar, I take it that comparing the three columns, 2007 through 2009, to the three columns, 2010 to 2012, is sort of inexact because one is headcount and the other is FTEs?

MR. MAUTI:  As we spoke yesterday, the headcount in the FTE will not be exact.  It's close, directionally close, but not exact, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do I understand your current practice to be that you use headcount consistently for past data, and you use FTEs consistently for future data?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  The FTEs form the basis of the labour dollars, which form part of the request, as part of the proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And with respect to the past data, the headcount you use is not average headcount for the year, it's year-end headcount, right?

MR. MAUTI:  It's the headcount at the end of the calendar year, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You actually do a monthly headcount at the end of each month, but the number you pick for headcount purposes is the number at December 31st?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that your headcount varies seasonally during the year?

MR. MAUTI:  This is a headcount of regular staff.  There would be, obviously, more of a variation in our non-regular staff that we use.  But regular headcounts tends to be fairly -- well, it doesn't vary as much as a non-regular or a -- more of the transient sort of workforce that we use at times.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You still tend to have more in the summer months than in the winter months, right?  Typically?

MR. MAUTI:  I'm not sure I could conclude on that specifically, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Okay.

So is it fair to say that average headcount and end-of-year headcount are like -- for regular staff, not for part-time staff, for regular staff are likely to be similar numbers?

MR. MAUTI:  It would depend on whether there's a growth or a shrinkage of the headcount during the year.  If you're adding staff, then obviously you would expect the number a bit higher at the end of that year, as you're adding staff, and conversely if you've shedding staff, it should be lower by the end of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2007 and '08, when you were adding staff, 2007, '08, and '09, you would -- you would see the year-end numbers being higher than your average for the year?

MR. MAUTI:  In terms of the growth between '07 and '08, it's roughly around 60 people.  It actually goes down in 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these are small enough numbers that you wouldn't see any particular impact between year-end and average?  It wouldn't be anything material?

MR. MAUTI:  I wouldn't suspect it to be material, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So now, this practice that you use of headcount for past and FTEs for future, I was a little surprised at that, because I take it that means your HR forecasts are not on the same basis as your past actuals, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Again, the -- in this case, the 2010 to '12, we choose FTE because that's the closest correlation to the dollars that we're requesting as part of this submission.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Internally, do you forecast headcount too?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  As we indicated yesterday, the headcount is available, and I believe one of the many undertakings is to produce a headcount view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have you looked at whether this inconsistency between the past -- the metric for past data and the metric for future data has caused you any problems, in terms of how you forecast or how you manage your workforce?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe it causes a problem, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So from an operational point of view, you're okay with it?  Okay.

And I guess if I want to delve into it in future, there's another panel that can deal with human resources issues?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Keizer, do you know what panel that would be?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that's panel 7, the corporate costs panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for the purposes of my questions on this point, on the -- I want to get to the costs in Darlington.  I'm going to treat the head count and the FTEs as if they're all FTEs.  Just -- I'm not going to be too far wrong; right?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So what I see is, in this chart, I see you've managed a big reduction in FTEs for nuclear support from 2007 through 2012, 318 FTEs, which is where a number of your fleet-wide initiatives have been focussed; right?

MR. MAUTI:  The fleet-wide initiatives impact the stations.  Sometimes they're coordinated through staff that are in support organizations, but it applies across the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these 318 that you've reduced, that's separate initiatives?  That's not the fleet-wide that we've been talking about?

MR. MAUTI:  As we tried to get into yesterday, the fleet-wide initiatives are a component of other reductions.  There are other initiatives that are being taken at a station and support division level to look at efficiencies and to reduce staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And except for facilities management, you appear to have reduced FTEs across the board in nuclear support; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  It looks that way, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us how that came about?  Is this a result of that top-down exercise we've been talking about?

MR. MAUTI:  The top-down business planning process that was undertaken last year that sort of impacts the 2010 period forward, would look at -- would dictate some of the efforts in that period.  Going back to 2007, there would be any number of initiatives that I believe were in the last filing, and we've already provided an update on those initiatives, which would include staff head count reductions in some areas that are in the support functions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the reason I ask that is because you had a big jump from 2007 to 2008, and then a small decrease from 2008 to 2009, but the real guts of it appears to be in '10, '11, '12.  So that sounds like the top-down exercise.

MR. MAUTI:  That's definitely supporting in that direction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Now, one of the areas we discussed the other day in the benchmarking was programs and training.  And we noted that the budget for programs and training goes up by 30 million from 2010 to 2014, but I see here that programs and training has a pretty substantial reduction in FTEs.  Do you have any idea why that would be true, why you would have an increase in budget, but a decrease in FTEs?

MR. PASQUET:  So I think for the response, the answer, if we go to the year over year and parts of the estimate, and if you give me a second, we'll find the reference for you.

So for what years of interest are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  In the budget they went from, I think, about 160 million to 190 million for programs and training over 2010 to 2014.

MR. PASQUET:  2000 -- okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And yet 2010 to 2011, 2011 to 2012, I see substantial drops in FTEs.  That doesn't seem really consistent.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay.  So if you just give us a second to find the right reference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. MAUTI:  The evidence in Exhibit F2-2-2 looks at the comparison of OM&A on a year-over-year basis.  None of the changes individually within the programs and training are large enough to be flagged by the materiality are discussed in detail.  But if you looked at the tables, starting at table 1a through to 1b, and eventually 1c, I guess table 1c gives you a look at the programs and training function, which we break out between records and admin, programs and training, and security, and provides you a delta change between 2009 to get to the 2010, '11, and '12 periods.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Okay.

MR. PASQUET:  So the other comment I'll make to add to what Mr. Mauti has said, within the NPT function there was movement of people from the nuclear oversight function into NPT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's sort of what I was looking for.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay.  And so there was some -- there was a corresponding drop in the PINO group and a corresponding increase in NPT, so there is a movement referenced there.

And the other thing, security costs also went up, and that's partly due to the transition from our own nuclear -- excuse me, transition from the Durham Region Police to our own security force.  And the reference I -- here, it's on page 7, and if you like, we can go over on page 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry.  Sorry, you had some people that moved from programs and training to where?

MR. PASQUET:  Excuse me.  From -- from the PINO organization into nuclear programs and training.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would exacerbate the problem?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, the budgets that you see for nuclear programs and training reflect that reorganization, so that's why you see those costs increase.  I'm on F2-2-2, page 7 of 10, starting at line 10, and this is a comparison of the 2009 versus 2008.  So I think that's where you see the increase is not necessarily the '10, '11, '12, but the reorganization that was done, the programs and training OM&A, starting on line 10 there, says it goes up 26.2 million, reflecting a cost-neutral organizational transfer from PINO of 21 million, as well as an increase in CNSC operating fees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MAUTI:  Those are the major drivers of that program going up in costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll have to take a look at that further.  I didn't see that reference.  Thank you.

I also see that you've been able to reduce your FTEs for Pickering A and Pickering B by substantial numbers, 190 for A and 105 for B.  But I look at Darlington and I see that your overall reduction in FTEs is only nine over those five years.

Can you just sort of summarize why the Darlington FTEs have not been able to be reduced at similar levels to the other components of your nuclear workforce?

MR. PASQUET:  The major driver for Darlington has been staffing in the operations function.  Specifically, there has been a longstanding issue associated with getting a sufficient number of authorized nuclear operators that specifically are the panel operators.  And so in order to get Darlington up to the prescribed number, we have instituted a program to get incremental hiring into the operator family to allow them to increase the number of certified staff, and thereby get to the numbers that are -- that are projected.

And so that's the primary driver for Darlington to -- with regards to the pressure on head count.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, see, that's what I thought your explanation had been.  I saw this somewhere else in the evidence, and this is why I asked it.

So that would be this line 1 in this table, right, "operations"?

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry, what table are you referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the same table at page 4 of our materials.  It's F2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 4 -- page 4 of our materials.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay.  So that certainly is one line.  The other one is in fuel handling, as well.  If you notice, line 3, there's an increase in the number of fuel handling personnel.  That is associated with the major panel operators.

Darlington is now doing more fuel channel work, and to complete that fuel channel work requires operation of the fuelling machine in conjunction with some of our inspection people.  So there was a major thrust there, as well, to get more panel operators, because in previous years it was impacting our outage performance, and so there was an effort to increase the number of panel operators to support that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the fuel handling and the tritium removal appear to be the areas that have the increases, and so I take it that these fuel handling personnel increases are -- they're project-related?

MR. PASQUET:  No, they're increasing our base staff.  I mean, they're -- they are there -- they are supporting other work, but the numbers of people that we want in fuel-handling does do twofold.

One, they routinely fuel the reactors.  So that's item number one.  And item number two is, to accommodate the extent of the outage work, they are required in the base staff to support that.

You just can't take an operator and basically pull him out of the field and then say:  Operate a fuel-handling panel.  There is a comprehensive training program for -- to become a fuel-handling panel operator.  You're essentially operating a piece of equipment that clamps on to the reactor and allows you to exchange fuel.  So there is a lot of training, a lot of effort goes into the development of our fuel-handling panel operators.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I understand that.  It's a very specialized job.

But I guess what I didn't understand was -- I thought I heard you say that you had to add some people to essentially support the fuel channel life management project?

MR. PASQUET:  To support fuel channel inspections.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you were always doing fuel channel inspections?

MR. PASQUET:  We are.  And we have found that the lack of panel operators has been a hindrance in our outages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the second part of it, then, is it's not about the project, it's about the outages.  And I looked at your outages list and you had nine this year, but you're forecasting four next year and the year after.

So I would have thought that your need for people to help you with outages is going down, isn't it?

MR. PASQUET:  Are you referring to outages at Darlington?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. MAUTI:  I think there's always at least one outage, I believe, every year at Darlington.  The people that are in base OM&A include all the base staff in support of outages.  So to the extent that fuel-handling staff are critical to the execution of an outage, they are still base, regular staff that do show up here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just before I leave this table, I want to ask you about something, a discussion you had with Mr. Stephenson yesterday with respect to minimum complements.

And I looked in the evidence to find whether somewhere you identify what the actual minimum complement is for any of your stations in the various components.

That's not in the evidence anywhere, is it?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible -- I mean, presumably this is something you have, but maybe you don't -- is it possible to do a table like this, like F2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 14, that shows just the minimum complement?

MR. PASQUET:  So maybe just to add a little context, the numbers -- I can't specifically speak for Darlington, but for the Pickering site, the numbers of people on-shift is on the order of about 90 some-odd people that constitutes the minimum complement that have to be on shift at any given time, about 90 people on any given day.

And so if we have five crews, then on each of those five crews at any given time, there has to be those 90 people.

It would be less, but similar ballpark numbers that would be present at Darlington.  So you're talking, you know, a population of about that many number of people that have to be there at any given time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is 450?  90 times five?

MR. PASQUET:  So the way you would calculate and the way you manage a complement is, on a particular shift, say today, there has to be, for the sake of the Pickering site, there's 90 people that have to be in on-site at any given time.

So of the people that are on the shift crew, 90 of them must be there to satisfy our minimum complement requirements.

And so a slightly reduced number, but similar type of number would be present at Darlington, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to get at is you've got, for example, at Darlington -- let's leave Pickering for the time being -- but at Darlington you have 1,693 FTEs.  Some portion of that is your minimum complement.

Can you estimate a number, just give us a bigger than a breadbox number?

MR. PASQUET:  So let me just clarify the question.

So let's say the number is 100, just to make it a round number, and so of the people who are assigned to shift, there would be -- have to be a hundred, a hundred people, basically, in the minimum complement.  So if we have five shifts and 100 in every shift, so then, if you like, there's 500 people supporting minimum complement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So would that be the right range, then?  If the Board is trying to understand how much of this 1,693 represents the minimum complement that you have to have as long as this is operating, would 500 be sort of the right range for Darlington?

MR. PASQUET:  So we just need to be careful in the context.  It's not 500 at any given time; it's 500 in general supporting the complement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  500 FTEs out of 1,693?

MR. PASQUET:  Well, in the case of minimum complement, we talk headcount.  There has to be a person to man a particular position on the site at any given time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you actually have a headcount table that says, for example, for tritium removal, you need to have 17 there?

MR. PASQUET:  So for the purpose of minimum complement, we count -- it's heads we count.  At any given time, there has to be X number of heads on the site.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what I'm asking you.  Do you actually have a table that says:  Here's what our minimum complement is for these particular categories?

MR. PASQUET:  Positions?  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it very complicated, or is it a simple summary?

MR. PASQUET:  It's a fairly simple summary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there any reason why we couldn't see it?

MR. PASQUET:  I'm not sure it's germane, germane to anything, but it's a fairly simple summary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like to see it if it's possible, Madam Chair.

MR. MAUTI:  Do you need that for each station?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it's not too much trouble.  I'm really only concerned about Darlington, but if you can do it for the other two, sure, why not?

MR. PASQUET:  For the Pickering, it's a combined number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's two pages instead of one?

MR. PASQUET:  Whatever.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  to PROVIDE MINIMUM COMPLEMENT SUMMARY FOR DIFFERENT CATEGORIES FOR DARLINGTON AND PICKERING.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm now moving to a new area, which will take me about 10 minutes.  Do you want me to start or...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  Start, and then we'll break after that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So my secondary of my questions is just to try and clear up something.  And to do that, I want to show you three quotes from the prefiled evidence.

The first is on page 5 of our materials.  Do you have that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you'll see at lines 7 and 8, it refers to something called the "labour price variance account," which is minus 11.2 million.  Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the second reference is on the next page, at pages 29 and -- sorry, lines 29 and 30.  This is page 6 of our materials.

Lines 29 to 30, which also refers to "labour price variance" minus 6.8 million.  Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the third one is on page 3 of our materials.  Sorry we didn't get these in order.  Do you have that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is at line 4, it also refers to -- in fact it says, line 3 and line 4:  "Nuclear-level common includes the labour price variance," and actually describes what that variance is.

So I have two questions about this.  First of all, there's a reference, the first quote referred to a labour price variance account.  And of course, being a regulatory lawyer, you said:  Variance account, and I went:  Really?

And we couldn't find any variance account, as we would understand it, anywhere.  You don't have a variance account for labour prices, right?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  I think what we used was our accounting definition, what we call this account within OPG.  We called it a labour price variance account, but it's not the same definition of a regulatory variance account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but you do have an internal variance account that records the differences between your budgeted costs and your actual costs, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Maybe just quickly to describe what the labour price variance is, we use a standard labour pricing model.  So in standard labour pricing, you look at job families, you determine a standard rate for that family.  We use that to cost out all the work in all of our programs.  That we do is when actual payroll is run to individual employees, it's used as an offset to what the standard rates are, and any difference or delta between the sort of the standard rates and the actual payroll rates end up as this variance account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  And so at no time in your budgeting process do you say:  How many people are we going to need?  You say:  How much work are we going to do?

And the number of people flows out of it, right?

MR. MAUTI:  It's work as defined by hours to execute work.  Those hours are costed out at a standard rate.  The number of those hours aggregated together becomes a number of FTEs.  We convert the hours into equivalent heads, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the quote I showed you on page 5 here, this is actually a comparison, I think, of 2009 actual to 2009 budget.  So I should have given you page -- the previous page, but it's tangential.

It is true, isn't it, that in 2009 you found that your labour price variance was negative by $11.2 million?  That is, you underspent by $11.2 million?

MR. MAUTI:  In our calculation of the standard labour costs for all of nuclear, which, in total, if you add them up across all work programs, comes close to about $1 billion in terms of coming up with those standard rates.

By the time the actual costs flow through that, we were off, you know, a little less than 1 percent, I believe it was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So that's -- I was going to ask a couple of questions about that.  First of all, this variance is a variance in base OM&A for nuclear?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  It's in base OM&A where the variance account, but it's based on the labour for all nuclear staff regardless of their work programs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so there isn't another number in nuclear common for project OM&A or for outage OM&A.  It's all in this 11.2?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  That's how we do the calculation through our accounting principles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if we were to look at your nuclear level common for other years, we would see, wouldn't we, that basically in every year the actual is lower than the budget?  There's a negative amount for labour price variance account?

MR. MAUTI:  It does vary, but I believe in the years in question here, there may have been one where it might have been above.  But, obviously, the ones you've referenced are two of the years that we have been below, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that leads me to ask, when the standardized labour rates are developed, do you assume that all positions are filled when you develop those rates?

So, for example, you have a standardized labour rate.  There's the cost of the person, and then there's a loading on top of it; right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is the cost of support people and stuff like that?

MR. MAUTI:  No, the actual -- there's not an overhead to support people.  This is all labour-related costs.  The burden that we're talking about are things such as pension, CPP, EI, and things like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.

MR. MAUTI:  In reality, the volume of staff does not sway the account one way or the other.  It purely is a price issue, not a volume-driven sensitivity issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any idea why the budgets based on those standardized labour rates are usually higher than what you actually end up spending?

MR. MAUTI:  The two years that you've referenced, they are lower.  I do remember years in the past where there's been slight variances that have been higher, where it ends up being in a deficit position, not a credit position.  You know, through extracting the data from our HR system, we look at prior years, amount of costs within those job families.  We add onto that known escalation factors, such as cost of living allowance, or whatnot.  We update the burden rates that were used and calculate it on a regular basis, and add that onto the standard labour rate.

So we do the best we can on, again, roughly, in nuclear's case, the billion dollars' worth of costs that we have flowing through labour, and then try to determine our appropriate standard rate.  And I believe anybody that does a standard labour costing process will never be at par.  There will always be a variance.

We think that the amounts that we're off in the years in question, within about 1 percent is a fairly reasonable process for estimation.

I don't think it's necessarily biassed one way or the other.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  The reason I'm asking this is -- and I understand that asking about how you do the standardized labour rates, I should go to panel 7, presumably?

MR. MAUTI:  We get the information from the HR group, reviewed by finance people, as well.  We test the assumption on a joint basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to understand is whether the formula that you build into this -- and I'm asking you from an operational point of view.  Presumably you would know.  Either -- there's a couple of explanations for why this would happen.

One is that there may be a sort of a -- when we talked about this yesterday, we called it a "fudge factor", but that sound a little pejorative.  But what it means is sort of a little bit of room in how you calculate the standardized labour rates to make sure you come in under it.  So that's one possibility.

The other possibility is that you're expected -- everybody in the organization is expected to come in under their budget, or on or under their budget.  And so with everybody getting a little bit close, you have this 1 percent difference.

Does either of those explanations sound about right?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't think either are.  You know, I'm involved personally in the calculation of the labour rates and the review.  There is no fudge factor or contingency that's built into them.

And in terms of -- one reason we actually have a standard labour rate process, when it gets down to people trying to manage their budgets or come in under budget, the actual labour rate itself does not actually flow to line managers who are trying to manage their budget.  They manage the volume of staff, the number of people that they have within their organization.  So those decisions don't flow into this account.

This is purely trying to estimate for the labour agreements that we have, including things like shift premiums and having to come up with assumptions on overtime.  Now, if you do read the explanations for some of these variances, the two in question, one of the largest reasons for the variance would be our actual overtime rate was a little lower than what we had expected in setting the standard rates.

We set not only a standard rate for normal hours; we also set an overtime rate.  One of the initiatives I know each of the stations has is to manage the overtime within the organization, which would mean trying to find ways not to have to pay a double-time premium to try to find a cheaper way to get overtime accomplished.  And we do see that the amount of overtime is actually lower than what we'd expect in setting those standard rates.

So that might be one aspect where a line manager could have an impact on this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  That's all my questions in this area, Madam Chair, so...

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  We'll break now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:34 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

For anybody who's doing a time check, I have about 45 minutes left.  I thought I was going to cut some back, but in the break people came to me and said ask this question, ask this question, so I had to add some.

I want to turn to a new area, which is heavy water sales.  This is the non-energy revenues area.

And as I understand it, in EB-2007-0905, OPG proposed that heavy water sales be offset to revenue requirement, but in this -- and the Board accepted that.  But that in this proceeding you've proposed that you keep the revenues from heavy water sales, right?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you could go to page 7 of our materials, this is an excerpt from your prefiled evidence.  Now, I understand this has been updated.  And this chart 1, which has the -- no, sorry, this one hasn't been updated, the next page has.

But this shows that you have total heavy water of just over 14,000 metric tonnes?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Most of which is actually in-service, right?  You're using it?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then on the next page, page 8 of our materials, you'll see in chart 2, and this is the chart that has been updated, as I understand it, the subtotal should read "2,007" and the surplus heavy water should read "537"?  Is that right?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yeah, 537 is the surplus.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the subtotal there, the net that you have is 2,007?

MR. ELLIOTT:  2,007 is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it's just because the 68 was... thank you.

So do we have somewhere in the application the dollar value of that 537 tonnes, the surplus heavy water?  Do we know how much that's worth?

MR. ELLIOTT:  You know, that is part of the confidentiality as to what the expected revenue we'll get from that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking for expected revenue at this point.  What I'm asking is there's sort of a market price right now for heavy water, right?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Well, it's a fully depreciated asset, so in terms of its -- you know, in terms of OPG, we own it.  It's been fully depreciated.

And when we go out to sell it, we go out and get a price for that based on a contract that we would negotiate with someone who wants to buy it.

And so that's based on knowledge of the -- kind of the value of the customer, the competition out there for it.  So I don't have an actual value to talk about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there a market price for heavy water?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you give us an order of magnitude?  Are these, you know, a million dollars a tonne?  Are they half a million dollar a tonne?  I mean, are they a dollar a tonne?  Give us a sort of a sense, if you could.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yeah, I'm not sure that I can share that.  I don't have the number, and I'm not sure I can share that without a confidential...

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, let's do this a different way, then.

Can you go to page 28 of our -- last page of our materials.  Do you have that?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is an excerpt from the evidence in EB-2007-0905.  This is not a confidential document.

And it's Exhibit G2, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1 from that proceeding.  And you've seen this before?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I saw it last night when it came through.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Late.  And so, for example, you see here that in 2007, you had revenues of $30 million from heavy water sales and processing.  Can you tell me roughly how many tonnes you sold?

MR. ELLIOTT:  I don't know that that's -- that that's in evidence.  And I don't have that number.

One thing that is in evidence is what we plan to sell.  You can see that in that one page that was updated.  2009 and '10, we expect to sell 68 tonnes of surplus heavy water.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And my recollection is that you plan to sell -- I think the numbers are around somewhere -- something like 32 and 36 tonnes in the two years?  Does that strike a -- ring a bell with you?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Well, the number I see here is 68 for what we expect to sell in 2009 and '10.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to back into the value here.  And I'm not trying to nail down a specific value.  I'm trying to get a sense of whether these are big numbers.

And the number you planned to sell in 2009 was $22.5 million, and I'm trying to get a sense of how many tonnes that was.

MR. MAUTI:  I think you might want to clarify.  You're referring to, on your page 28, your line 1:  "Heavy water sales and processing."

That is not just heavy water sales itself.  Its also heavy water detritiation services; are both into that line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

MR. ELLIOTT:  The one way you can look at it is what 

-- and it was in an undertaking -- is what the reduction is by taking it out of the revenue requirement.  That's in an interrogatory.  And it doesn't go into tonnes, but it does tell you the, you know, the dollar value that is being reduced.  I'll just find that.  It was one that there was a confidential one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't give me the confidential information on the record.

MR. ELLIOTT:  No, but there was a non-confidential one where you -- you can get a flavour that the overall heavy water sales and processing -- I've got Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 28.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?

MR. ELLIOTT:  And you can see that when you combine the sales with the heavy water services, which is the detritiation, you know, we expected 23.1 million in revenue, and you can see that going down.  And part of that going down is the sales are taken out.

So it can give you some kind of order of magnitude of what we're talking about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're talking about -- well, let me put this to you a different way, because this was actually not the important part of my questioning, so I don't want to waste too much time on it.

This 537 tonnes, it's worth somewhere between 200- and $400 million?  Was that a reasonable range?  I'm trying to be broad enough that it can't possibly be commercially sensitive.

MR. ELLIOTT:  I haven't done that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking you to do a calculation, I'm asking you to give us a sense.  Let me ask it a different way.  Is it a nine-figure number?

[Witness panel confers.] 

MR. ELLIOTT:  I'd have to do a little math to give you that.  I'd have to do a little math to give you that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  Subject to Mr. Keizer's comments, all I want is a sense of -- a rough range of how big this -- this value of this surplus inventory is, and it doesn't need to be precise.  You saw 200 to 400 is sort of the number I'm looking for.

Is it possible to undertake to give us a range sort of --


MR. ELLIOTT:  Just one comment.  The value -- you know, we're not sure we can sell it all.  We're not sure we'll have a market for all of it.  They're certainly looking, in hindsight, what has happened.  And we could give you that kind of a value in hindsight.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be wonderful.

MR. ELLIOTT:  But that's not to say we can get all of that value out of the remaining 537.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's great.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4:  TO PROVIDE ESTIMATE OF VALUE OF SURPLUS INVENTORY OF HEAVY WATER12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me understand how you account for heavy water.  When you acquire it, there's a cost.  You actually acquire it by producing it; right?  You make it?

MR. ELLIOTT:  We did, but a very long time ago, and we don't produce it anymore.  We've stopped production.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  You have what you produced then?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you acquired it, you put it into rate base in effect, what is now rate base; that is, you put it into your fixed assets, right?

MR. ELLIOTT:  The -- what we've done is certainly the water that's used to produce electricity is in the asset rate base.  You know, the water in the reactors used to make electricity is in there.  It was in there and still is in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is in rate base?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's fully depreciated?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Fully depreciated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's in rate base, but the value is zero?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Certainly this -- this surplus, yeah, the value is zero, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not what I'm asking.  Is the value of the heavy water that's in your reactors zero in rate base?  And the reason I ask that is I looked at your rate base continuity schedules, and I didn't see anything at the level of granularity that would show me the heavy water number.  And so I...

MR. MAUTI:  I'm comfortable that the value of the surplus heavy water is fully depreciated and zero.  I'd have to go back and check as to the value of the in-service heavy water in our reactors.  We do distinguish between the two, obviously, the ones that you are in our reactors that are used for generation purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm probably going to ask you for an undertaking on that, but let me just take the next step and see whether I can figure this out.

We couldn't find a detailed rate base continuity that sets your rate base down by the various types of assets.  And so, instead, we went to your tax tables, because that has CCA classes, right, tax tables?

And so if you look at page 24 of our materials first, you'll see that there's a class 26, a tax class, an ITA class 26.  Do you have that page there?  And right at the bottom of the page, you'll see it says class 26, 5 percent.  Do you have that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yeah.  I have it here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you'll see that that includes heavy water acquired after May 22nd, 1979.  Did you produce your heavy water before 1979?

MR. ELLIOTT:  The heavy water was still being produced into the nineties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Okay, so -- and then I went to your prefiled evidence to -- and this is pages 25, 26 and 27 of our materials.  You'll see those tables are your CCA tables for your tax returns.  Do you have those?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's a column that says "Class".  That's the CCA class, and I looked for class 26, because that would be your heavy water, and I didn't see it anywhere.  So I assume that means -- and tell me whether this is correct.  I assume that means that you have no amount for heavy water currently, at least in your undepreciated capital costs for tax purposes, and I presume that also means that you have no heavy water in your rate base currently?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, it may be - sorry to interrupt - be best to put the question relating to the CCA and the rate base to the finance and business process panel.  It's, I think -- panel 9, I think, what it is now, but I'm not quite sure where it is going to be scheduled -- where it actually has within it rate base, and it also deals with tax matters, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but I'm asking about heavy water.  I'm trying to figure out whether you have any heavy water in rate base today.  I mean, either you do or you don't.

MR. KEIZER:  And I think that panel will deal -- has all the rate base matters and can address the issue of rate base and what's in it and what's not in rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My difficulty, Madam Chair, is that I want to ask about non-energy revenues, which is this panel, and to do that I need to know whether we have a zero amount in rate base or a bigger amount in rate base.

And I guess I can operate on the assumption that it will be zero, and then if I'm wrong, we'll see what to do then.

So I'm going to assume that all your heavy water is fully depreciated to zero, and if that turns out to be incorrect, we'll deal with it later.

If it's fully depreciated, that means - tell me if this is right - that you have recovered the entire cost of it in rates; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  The value of the surplus heavy water, which is part of non-energy revenues, I can confirm has no value.  It's been fully depreciated.  That happened prior to the beginning of rate-setting for OPG and prior to even the commencement of the interim rate period for OPG.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  That's not what I'm asking.  I'm asking who paid for it.  And I take it that since your only revenue is from ratepayers, that ratepayers ultimately paid all of that; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, it would have, again, happened before rate-setting purposes, so I'm not sure what you mean by ratepayers.  In the context of OPG's regulatory position?  It all happened prior to 2005, so that's why I'm having trouble understanding when you say it went through rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask the question a different way, because I don't want to make a big deal out of it.  I just want to make sure I understand.

Aside from revenue from ratepayers, prior to 2005, did you have any other revenues?

MR. MAUTI:  Apart from other non-energy revenues or other revenues that OPG would have earned?  I'm not exactly clear of the context of the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to understand whether you had any other source of money to pay for the heavy water that's been fully depreciated.

MR. MAUTI:  Well, the payment for the actual fabrication of the heavy water happened decades ago.  The asset value that was related to it that's related to the surplus heavy water was written down zero at least, I think, about ten years ago, I believe it was.  So that was around the -- you know, the turn of the century.

So the write-off of it and who paid for that, as part of the write-off, I'm not clear what it means.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to ask this question, understanding that you probably won't be able to answer it, but then it will be sort of warning for your finance panel, I think.  Did any part of the costs of the heavy water get shifted to Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation when the stranded debt was shifted over to them?  Do you know?

MR. MAUTI:  I wouldn't be in a position to know how that allocation was done at the wind-up of Ontario Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  I'll follow up, but that's panel 9; right?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe it is 9, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  So you do expect to have some heavy water sales in 2011/2012?

MR. ELLIOTT:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have a forecast of that?

MR. ELLIOTT:  We have an internal forecast.  I don't have that with me here today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be a confidential --


MR. ELLIOTT:  It would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- forecast; right?  Is it possible to provide that in confidence?

MR. ELLIOTT:  It is.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5: TO PROVIDE INTERNAL FORECAST OF HEAVY WATER SALES FOR 2011/2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I want to turn to another area, and that is nuclear fuel costs.  And I was here, and I have since read the transcript.  So it does sound like yesterday was all fuel costs at all time, so I'm not going to repeat everything that was dealt with yesterday, but I do want to understand a couple of things.

First, let me understand this process.  You talked about this cycle that can take several years, sometimes, from the time you buy uranium until the time it ends up in a reactor, right?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you buy the uranium first, and you talked about the various ways you did, which they talked about at length yesterday.  And what you buy goes into your nuclear fuel inventory, right?

MR. MAUTI:  It's a component of the nuclear fuel inventory, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so whatever the cost of it was at the time, you include it in the inventory?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Add it to the inventory?  And that inventory number, the total inventory, nuclear fuel inventory, is included in your rate base, and you earn a return on it?

MR. MAUTI:  It is a component of the working capital, yes, and it does earn a return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that uranium is not yet fuel.  You have to process it and make it into fuel bundles first, right?

MR. MAUTI:  It's a two-stage process; convert it to uranium dioxide first, and then into fuel bundles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then it's still inventory?  But then it's still inventory at that point, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, the inventory that we see in our working capital is three portions of inventory.  It's the original purchase of the uranium concentrate, it's the uranium dioxide, as well as a cost for the finished fuel bundles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a number of what, about $350 million or something?  That's the right range, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  It seems to be in about that range, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that has three components; it has raw uranium, it has uranium dioxide, and it has fuel bundles?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But for your point of view, they're all inventory?  They're all one number?

MR. MAUTI:  It's three bundles that equal our fuel inventory, yes, but we track them and we manage them separately, but –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I wasn't trying to trap you.

So then at some point you take a fuel bundle and you put it in a reactor, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At that point, what happens from an accounting point of view?  It comes out of inventory, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what happens to it?  It's a cost?  It's a --


MR. MAUTI:  It's expensed as a fuel cost at that point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you haven't actually used it up yet, but you've expensed it at that point?

MR. MAUTI:  Yeah, our process is to expense at the time to have loading a fuel bundle into the reactor.  We've followed that process for several years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It actually lasts quite a long time in the reactor, doesn't it?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe it lasts in the neighbourhood of 12 months, a year, something like that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the fuel inventory number itself, you use the averaging method, and it's been a long time since I studied accounting, but as I recall, there's several inventory methods like LIFO and FIFO, and all those sorts of things.

And one method is a pool, which is averaged, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you do -- tell me whether this is right -- if you have an additional cost associated with putting something into the pool, you simply add that to the total and re-average what your costs are?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  That's the process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so if you buy more units at a higher price -- you're always buying uranium, right?  You're not buying dioxide or fuel bundles?

MR. MAUTI:  We're buying uranium, and we're purchasing the services to convert them into those next two stages, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come to that in a second.

But the actual, physical things that go into inventory is always uranium, right?

MR. MAUTI:  As well as the value added on for the other services, but the main component, the raw material, is uranium, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you buy more, that only slightly raises your pool costs, right?  Your average costs, because you have this pool of assets already there?

MR. MAUTI:  Agreed.  Any individual purchase, depending on the size, doesn't necessarily skew that average tremendously.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so in your particular fuel inventory, at a point in time, roughly how much is uranium, how much is dioxide and how much is -- in terms of dollars -- is fuel bundles?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't have that with me right now.

MR. SHPHERD:  Can you give me a sense, just so I can ask the rest of my questions?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't really want to be speculate, because I don't necessarily want to lead you down a wrong path if I'm off with my estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that it changes from time to time, or is it fairly constant, what your ratio is?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, it would depend on the input values for each of the three components.  With the price of uranium, it tends to have a much higher volatility recently, as we talked about yesterday, so that would tend to have an impact that would change that ratio over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  From a dollar point of view.  But from a physical -- which is what I asked -- but from a physical point of view, you try to keep roughly the same balance, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Yeah, within -- within, you know, a band of what we try to operate within, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to come back to this, but you talked about the costs associated with moving it from one to the other.  Those are considered inventory costs, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, they are.  We are changing the raw material into another form as a work-in-progress to get to the final state, the fuel bundle, which we can actually use in our reactors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, out of this 381 million, some of it is costs associated with actual doing things, processing uranium and then bundling up dioxide into fuel bundles>

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is that done internally, or is it done externally?

MR. MAUTI:  We purchase the services for both conversion into uranium dioxide, as well as the fabrication of our fuel bundles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  From a third party or from a related party?

MR. MAUTI:  From a third party.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's a pretty substantial number?  The cost of the processing is a pretty substantial number, right?

MR. MAUTI:  It's in the millions of dollars, but it is a number that's...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I'm going to ask you to do is, can you take the -- I don't really care which number.  You can take the $380 million of nuclear fuel inventory you're listing for 2011, or you can take a hypothetical number, you can take today's snapshot, if you would like, and just tell us what is the breakdown between the three components and how much of the cost in that is the processing cost?  Can you do that?

MR. MAUTI:  So to be clear, I believe you're referring to page 2 of your booklet with the inventory values?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I wasn't, but since you mention it, okay.  You could take, let's say, the 2011 plan number.  You have an opening balance of 381.7 million.  Presumably, you can estimate how much of that is uranium, how much of it is dioxide, and how much of it is bundles?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you can tell us out of that, roughly how much is processing costs, as opposed to uranium costs?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe that's a split we can give you, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So I wonder if you could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  to PROVIDE APPROXIMATE BREAKDOWN OF 2011 PLAN NUMBER OPENING BALANCE BETWEEN URANIUM, URANIUM DIOXIDE, AND FUEL BUNDLES.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so let me just -- before I leave this, I want to ask you a little bit about this procurement strategy for uranium.  You discussed it yesterday.

You have OM&A costs associated with that strategy, right?

MR. MAUTI:  We have a fuels procurement group within nuclear supply chain, which is OM&A-funded, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also have some external costs?  You have lawyers and agents, and they can certainly add up.  And -- it's not that funny -- and you have costs, associated capital costs and overheads, things like that, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Trying to think of the capital costs associated with it.  The actual uranium itself --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not talking about that.  I'm talking about your operating costs associated with running this procurement strategy.

So you have a group and you have -- they have offices, they have desks, they have computers, all that sort of stuff, right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct, they have standard offices and that sort of thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do we have any evidence anywhere of the cost of running this procurement strategy?  Do we know how much it costs you every year to procure using this particular strategy?

MR. MAUTI:  Within the evidence as it's currently broken out, no, it would be a relatively smaller number.  But if you're asking for the cost of the fuels procurement group?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  The total cost of that group, yeah.

MR. MAUTI:  It's available.  I do not have it with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Are we talking about a hundred thousand or a million?

MR. MAUTI:  All right.  Subject to check here, there's, I believe, somewhere in the neighbourhood of probably three to five people in the group.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're talking about 7- or $800,000?

MR. MAUTI:  So we're talking about salary, staff, and office and overhead costs for three to five people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we assume 7- or $800,000, are we in the ballpark?  Or do you want to give us the number?  You can do that, if you like.

MR. MAUTI:  Depends on what you want to do with the number.

[Laughter.]

MR. MAUTI:  If it's an order of magnitude, you could probably say around half a million, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Half a million?  Okay.  Thank you.

You launched this procurement strategy in 2006 or so; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Actually, it's a procurement strategy that's been in place a long time, and I know there's been some questions asked about, you know, how that strategy was put forward and adopted.  And I believe there was a question yesterday on whether this had been brought forward to the OEB specifically to be approved.

I don't think we've ever actually taken the strategy itself and asked for a ruling on it, but I did notice that in, I guess, the decision with reasons back in our first hearing, that the Board findings -- I'll give you the file reference.  It's on page 33 of the decision with reasons dated November 3rd, 2008, and it does say, under the caption of "Nuclear Fuel", "Board Findings", it says:
"The Board accepts that uranium costs and fuel prices are highly volatile and OPG has developed a reasonable strategy to manage this risk through a supply portfolio consisting of both market and fixed-price contracts." 

So while we haven't necessarily just adopted it in 2006, it's been there for a long time, but in the previous filing there was at least a recognition of this as an appropriate approach.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's entirely non-responsive to my question, but that's okay.  I understand you were looking for an opportunity to get that in.  That's fine, and it's good that we know.  But let's get back to the question.

This strategy at some point was launched; right?  Whether it was 2006 or earlier, you had launched this strategy to have a portfolio, including indexed contracts and market long-term contracts and spot purchases; right?

MR. MAUTI:  It's a combination of both, what I call the fixed-price and the market price contracts, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, but market price has two components; right?  It has long-term market price and it has spot?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  And the spot component is something that -- and I think through the discussions yesterday, there was an assumption that we could just go 100 percent to maybe a spot kind of a relationship.  And I think I tried to describe it's not a large market in terms of suppliers and competitors out there willing to enter into contracts with us.

So the ability to actually enter into a spot price on a regular basis as part of a strategy, I believe this strategy says to look at the market fundamentals, look at opportunities, but not necessarily relying on spot purchases, because they are somewhat difficult to rely and bank on, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  You need to be sure you have it; right?  You need to be sure you can get the fuel when you need it?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, security of supply is fundamental, as well as our quality.  And looking at the options we have, whether we want to go on the spot, there may not be the availability or a counterparty willing to make a deal with us on a spot basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  So -- but really what I was trying to get at is:  When you developed this strategy, did you have any independent review done of what the best way was to procure uranium?  Did you have a market study done or a risk assessment, or any sort of document like that, to say, Here's your best approach, given this goal or this goal or this goal?  Did you have that done?

MR. MAUTI:  I've seen the -- I guess the recommendations analysis that has been done recently on the already existing strategy back as to when it was originally launched.  As I said, I'm not sure how far back that goes.  I haven't seen anything that would reflect sort of a study before we had adopted that strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the recommendations analysis you're referring to is something that's already in the evidence here?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  I believe one of the undertakings from yesterday was to provide documentation of the strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what I'm trying to get is, when you started it in the first place, was it just an idea you had internally at OPG, or was it something that you got third-party advice from experts on how to do it?

MR. MAUTI:  Right.  And I do not know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have just two other questions on this area.  One is, one of your benchmarks is fuel costs per megawatt-hour; right?

MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you measure that based on the average cost method?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's the costs you take out of inventory in the year; right?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at any given point in time, you have -- how much inventory do you have?  You have more than two years; right?

MR. MAUTI:  We have roughly two years' worth of uranium concentrate.  We have a different quantity for uranium dioxide, and approximately 12 to 15 months' worth of fuel bundles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you add it all up, you have three or four years of -- if you stop purchasing, it would be three or four years before you ran out; am I in the right range?

MR. MAUTI:  That's probably correct.  That would drive it down to absolutely nothing, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  The thing I'm trying to get at is if you have a benchmark that you're trying to reach, since it's all in your inventory already, don't you already know what your cost is going to be next year?  I don't see where your -- the benchmark can influence your actions.

I'm trying to understand that, because it's already in inventory.  You're going to take it out of inventory at a predictable price, because you've already spent the money; isn't that right?

MR. MAUTI:  The price of that inventory at a point in time is known.  We continually get new fuel bundle shipments from our supplier, which would have an impact on the averaging cost.  We have -- new uranium acquisitions will impact the averaging process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you for a second.  The new fuel bundle processing costs, those are predictable; right?  You have a contract with them.  You know how much they're going to charge you?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And with respect to the uranium costs, that's a very small percentage of the number; right?  If you have three or four years of stuff there in the pool, then whether your uranium costs next year are twice as much or half as much is going to have very little impact on your average costing; right?

MR. MAUTI:  The magnitude of the difference of those dollars compared to the average, you would have to look at how great that magnitude is to figure out how big of an impact that would have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me move to my penultimate area.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Could I just answer one very easy question you gave me - and I don't like to miss an easy question - about the cost of the heavy water?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. ELLIOTT:  Just that it would be in the order of several hundred thousand dollars per tonne, not your nine-figure or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Several hundred dollars per tonne?

MR. ELLIOTT:  Several hundred thousand dollars per tonne, or several hundred dollars a kilogram is another way of saying it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I said the 537 is $200 to $400 million, that's in the right range?

MR. ELLIOTT:  That part I quantified -- or qualified with, you know, can we sell.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can sell.

MR. ELLIOTT:  So I'm looking backwards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. ELLIOTT:  And I just wanted to answer that easy question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Was that an undertaking?  I think it was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe it was.

MS. CHAPLIN:  It was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I think we can treat it as answered unless...

MR. MILLAR:  I think that was J5.4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then -- so my second last area is Pickering B continued operations.  And, again, you talked about this with Mr. Millar and Mr. Stephenson yesterday, so I just have a bit of follow-up. And, actually, you talked about it with Mr. Rubin again this morning.

This project to extend the lives of Pickering B units by four years -- and one of the things that results from that is you can now extend the period you can operate Pickering A, as well; right?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That has two units; right?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And part of the reason for doing this is to cover the base load shortfall that will arise because of the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. PASQUET:  I think the way I'd characterize it, with the Darlington units coming out of service, there will be a change in the available base load.  So that has an impact on the available base that's there, and, hence, impacts on the price of energy that will be available at that point in time, the price during that time, because obviously supply will change, and so, hence, the value of the Pickering B generation will change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The period that you'll have outages in Darlington as a result of the refurbishment is about seven years?

MR. PASQUET:  I believe it's in that area, in that range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this extension only covers three of them?  Is it three of them or four of them?  Three of them?

MR. PASQUET:  So the Pickering continued ops initiative would run to 2020.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's three of the years, three of the Darlington outage years?

MR. PASQUET:  Approximately three; correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I was a little confused with that, because if you have a shortfall that you have to cover, one way or another, or you want to cover, normally you try to cover all of it.  If you try to cover part of it, then you still have to find solution for the other part; right?

This doesn't sound like much of a view, is my point.

MR. PASQUET:  So just two comments.  One, if we could operate for another seven years, then we certainly would consider that, but we don't believe we can operate for another seven years, or beyond 2014, 2016.

The second thing is that the proposal, we've notified the OPA.  They know our intentions, and they know what the available generation will be at that period of time.  So we have provided them that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I guess I'm looking at it from the opposite point of view, and let me ask it to you a different way, then.

If the problem is to deal with seven years of Darlington outages, this doesn't solve that problem; right?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.  It doesn't solve the full problem.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It just helps you a bit.  It defers when you have to solve the problem?

MR. PASQUET:  It provides an option for the first three years of refurbishment.  After those three years, then some other solution will have to be found.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The second question I had is that you talked yesterday and a number of times about Pickering being a lower-cost generation to cover this outage and other things.

I guess I thought that when we talked to the benchmarking panel, we agreed that Pickering units were really high-cost generation.

So I assume the difference is because costing, the cost numbers you're using for this continuation are on a different basis than, for example, your benchmarks, your TGC numbers?

MR. PASQUET:  So the net benefit is the difference between the cost of the energy produced out of the Pickering units, versus the substitute or versus the replacement, what would be in there in lieu of Pickering.  So that's where the -- that's where the NPV comes from.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that.  But I guess you're not using $70 or $80 a megawatt-hour in that calculation for Pickering A, for example?  Because -- which is your TGC number, right?  Is in that range?

MR. PASQUET:  So when they did analysis, they looked at the cost of energy from the Pickering site.  And then they equated that to what our best judgment would be, what would be the replacement energy.

And that's where we came up with the 1.1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I --


MR. PASQUET:  Maybe I'm not understanding your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm obviously not making myself clear.

There's various ways of calculating the cost of energy from a facility, and one of them is your TGC number, which is -- Pickering, basically you're losing money; every time you produce a kilowatt-hour, you're losing money, because it's less than your payment amount, right?

And so my initial reaction is why on earth would you want to run a losing station longer than you already -- and spend money to do it?  And I take it the reason is because you're calculating the incremental cost of running it those four years at a much lower number, right?  Than 70 or 80 dollars a megawatt-hour?

MR. PASQUET:  Can you repeat the question again?  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The number you're using for Pickering, continued operations per megawatt-hour, is much lower than your TGC number?  It's like $15 or something like that, right?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. PASQUET:  So if I understand correctly, we're not using the benchmark number for energy.  We're using the difference between the replacement energy and what the cost is of the energy produced by Pickering.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the cost of the energy produced by Pickering is a much lower number than the TGC number?

MR. MAUTI:  No -- if -- on the net present value analysis, you'd look at all the incremental cash flows to operate the Pickering site to the end of 2020, as part of the calculation of that NPV.

I think what Mr. Pasquet was alluding to is that the benchmarking work that we've done is benchmarking Ontario Power Generation's nuclear reactors against other North American nuclear reactors.  It's a different comparison.  That's why I was unclear where you were going with the:  Didn't use the benchmark.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's approach this a slightly different way.  You currently have a number -- let's say it's $70 a megawatt-hour for Pickering A -- as your budget for total generating costs.  I'm in the ballpark, right?

If you shut it down instead, does that mean that your revenue requirement goes down by $70 times the production from Pickering?

MR. PASQUET:  The revenue requirement is directly related to the expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your cost of $70 a megawatt-hour, if you don't have it anymore, then you don't need that money from the ratepayers, right?

MR. MAUTI:  The $70 includes capital, so I'm not sure if you can simply say it's $70 times generation.  You'd look at the components of the revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll leave that.  My third question on this has do with the OPA review of the project.  And there's actually -- I heard you say today that the business case that you gave to the OPA is this one that we see an excerpt from on page 38 of the Staff materials, K4.2; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, page 38 of the?

MR. SHEPHERD:  K4.2 is the Staff cross-examination materials, Board Staff cross-examination materials.

MR. PASQUET:  So I don't have that particular document with me.  Are you referring to the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The exhibit No. is F2, tab 2, schedule 3, attachment 1, and it's page 17.

MR. PASQUET:  Okay.  I have that, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the OPA seems to think that the number that's the cost of the facility is $184 million, right?  That's what they said in their letter?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But this is the business case you gave them, right?  And it says $190 million?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you help me with that?

MR. PASQUET:  So there's -- and let me find the interrogatory.

The answer I gave yesterday was associated with whether it's 2010 dollars versus 2009 dollars, and that's where the difference is.  So if you just give me two minutes here, I'll get you the interrogatories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The interrogatory is page 14 of our materials.

MR. MAUTI:  It's L-1-67, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Page 14 of the School Energy Coalition materials right there in front of you here.

And right at the bottom, you say that it's different dollars?

MR. PASQUET:  In Part (a), that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm trying to understand where do you get the $184 million number, because I couldn't find it in the business case.

MR. PASQUET:  The 184 is not -- where the OPA got the 184, I'm not a hundred percent clear.  But the -- and I don't know where the number -- which dollars they were referencing to.

But the difference between the 184 and the 190 is the difference between 2010 escalated or un-escalated dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I'm driving at.  In L-1-67, which is this interrogatory you're looking at right now, you say:  "The $184 million estimate provided to the OPA."

Right?  You see that?

And so I look at the business case, and there's no $184 million in it, so I want to know what document was that $184 in?

This is a document we haven't seen, right?

MR. PASQUET:  I can't specifically answer the question where the -- what reference they made to the 184.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's a document -- it's an estimate you provided them, right?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask you to undertake to provide us with the document that gave them that estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.7:  to PROVIDE DOCUMENT TO SUPPORT $184 MILLION ESTIMATE PROVIDED TO THE OPA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then my last question in this area -- I'm sorry I'm going longer than I expected, but I'm very close to being finished -- and my last question in this area, my penultimate area, is you talked yesterday about a number of $300 million as your sort of upset number, right?

MR. PASQUET:  Upside number, I believe it would be.  Not upset number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought that's what engineers call it, an upset price?

MR. PASQUET:  I'm not familiar with that term.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Different engineers.  And so my question would be:  The OPA reviewed your business case and said:  Okay, this is a good idea, right?  In fact, you refer to it as your plan has been substantiated by the OPA.  That's what you said earlier today.

But now a bunch of your assumptions would have changed since then, right?  True?

MR. PASQUET:  Which assumptions are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you had various assumptions in the business case.  They're not all correct anymore.  You don't believe they're all correct, right?

MR. PASQUET:  And that's why we provided the sensitivity analysis around our business case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is this:  You have numbers up to $300 million.  Have you gone back to the OPA and said:  Here's some updated information, some sensitivity, here's our $300 million number; is this still a good idea?

MR. PASQUET:  So we never provided 300 million to the OPA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you were talking to Mr. Rubin earlier today -- no, I have two other questions on this, yeah -- about the plus 30 percent to minus 15 percent confidence band, right?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And he asked about the asymmetry.  And I guess my question is a different one, and that is am I right in understanding that the number that you've provided, the $92.9 million number or the $190 million number, for that matter, is not the median number?  That's your target?

MR. PASQUET:  That is our expected, expected number, and that's what we've put in the rate application.  That's what we're expecting to spend, if approved, on continued operation.  And so the question you're asking, minus 15 plus 30, it would be around that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that.  I'm asking:  Is it your median of your various estimates?  That is, would you -- if you think of this in terms of a probability curve, is this the highest probability number, or is this 

-- because you could have an expected number that's actually lower than your median, right, because you can expect to do better than median; right?

I'm asking:  Is this your median or is it a target that's better than your median?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PASQUET:  I don't know if I'd characterize it as median.  It's what I would classify as the expected number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then on this area I have one more question, and that's to follow up your correction this morning on the double-counting.  And it sort of confused me a little bit, so I'm trying to nail it down.

MR. PASQUET:  So I think the best thing is to go to the chart, and I can explain from the chart.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just ask the question first, because it may not be as complicated as you think it's going to be.

On page 15 of our materials, in --


MR. PASQUET:  I have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- L-1-67, on page 2, this is where you say that the Pickering B continued operations is $92.9 million plus $11.7 million.

MR. PASQUET:  That's what it says in the interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it appears to me, and tell me whether this is right, that there's two problems there.  Problem number one is that the 11.7 million is the whole fuel channel life cycle management project, but only 8.8 million of it relates to Pickering.  True?

MR. PASQUET:  True.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the second thing is that 8.8 is actually included in the 92.9?

MR. PASQUET:  And that's what I -- that's what I explained.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was your correction this morning.  We were confused and that's why I'm asking.  So the remainder, the remaining 2.9, is really a Darlington cost?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it included in your Darlington costs somewhere?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, it is.  It's in Darlington refurbishment plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  It's not double-counted, too, is it?

MR. PASQUET:  It is not double-counted.  We verified that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I figured you might.  And so then my last question is on SEC No. 24, which is page 17 of our materials.

Just before I get to that, let me just ask you something else.  Right now, you don't know the end of life of your pressure tubes; right?

MR. PASQUET:  We have -- our best judgment, the current judgment, which quite frankly was the judgment that we had made about ten years ago, was that the pressure tubes would operate to 210,000 full power hours.  Since that time, there's been much research done in the field of pressure tubes, and so this project then, basically, is to define what the ultimate life is left in the pressure tubes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that project costs $11.7 million?

MR. PASQUET:  So let's stand back.  So if you look at the BSC for the fuel channel life management project, it is more than 11 million.  So if you look at the BCS, and subject to check, I believe the total cost of the project is around 24 million, or thereabouts, 25 million.

And of that 25 million, there's two components.  There's the Darlington component and there's the Pickering component that basically sum up to the 24.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we know the Pickering component is 8.8 million; right?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.  But the 8.8 is over two years.  So you have to look at the BCS to look at the flow over a number of years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'll follow that up.  But, anyway, my question is this.  You're spending that money to find out whether you're right on the 240,000 hours?

MR. PASQUET:  We're going to determine what the ultimate life is in the pressure tubes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why you have to spend the rest of the money on continued operation, which is quite a lot of money, right - it's like another, what, $85 million, or something - is because if you wait until you know the answer to the question, it will be too late to spend the 85 million and extend the Pickering?

MR. PASQUET:  Okay, so there's two -- that's one component.  The other component is we have to continue to maintain the asset so that we preserve it, so that it does then operate for the extra four years.

And the second component is, in the execution of some of the outage work, there will be data and information that will then feed into the fuel channel life management project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the other alternative you had in this - tell me whether this is right - is what you could have done is -- this has value to Darlington, too; right?

MR. PASQUET:  The fuel channel management project has value to Darlington, and that's why we split it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you could have done is you could have said, We're going to find out the answer to the question, and if we're too late to apply it to Pickering, we're too late, but it will still have the value for Darlington.  We'll still be able to extend Darlington; is that right?  You must have chosen -- you must have looked at that option?

MR. PASQUET:  But then you don't get opportunity to go for the potential benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you did look at that option?

MR. PASQUET:  There was no 'don't do the work' option.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There was the do the fuel channel, but not the 85 million?

MR. PASQUET:  So when we did the business case, one of the options was do nothing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about do nothing.  I'm asking about do the fuel channel, but not do the work now for continued operations of --


MR. PASQUET:  So then you don't have the option, then, of exercising the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  My question is much simpler.  Did you look at that at the time?

MR. PASQUET:  Can you repeat your question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you look at the option of doing the fuel channel -- the life cycle replacement, but not doing Pickering until you know the answer to the $240,000 question?

MR. PASQUET:  So if we had done that and -- if we had done that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you.

MR. PASQUET:  All right.  So the answer is, no, we did not look at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all I want to know.

MR. PASQUET:  Let me just add a "but".  So if we had not done the $85 million worth of work, then that option would not have been available to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, okay.  Now, I do want to take you to page 17, which is my last question, page 17 of our materials.  This is SEC Interrogatory No. 4, and this is actually just to clean up something we didn't understand.  This is a chart of your planned outages, right, and their costs; is that true?

MR. MAUTI:  It looks that way.  I just want to point out that this was an interrogatory that was not assigned to this panel, so this is the first we've had a chance to look at this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  I thought this was your subject area.

MR. MAUTI:  If it's outage-related costs, it's not.  That would be the production and outage panel that's coming up on Monday, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What panel is it?

MR. KEIZER:  It's the production and outage OM&A panel.  That's on Monday morning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Panel 4.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  The Panel has some questions.
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  I have a few questions in a couple of areas.  The first is a general question.  So we have OM&A actuals for 2008, 2009, but for 2010 all we have is the budget.  Would you be able to provide nine-month actual numbers for 2010, plus the three-month -- the last three-month budget numbers?

MR. MAUTI:  So the actuals for the first nine, budget for the last three?

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. MAUTI:  That is possible to do.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.8: TO PROVIDE 2010 OM&A NINE MONTHS' ACTUAL NUMBERS AND REMAINING THREE MONTHS' BUDGET NUMBERS.

MS. HARE:  The next question was the discussion about this minimum complement.  My understanding is that this is the minimum number of people requirement by CNSC to be on site to run the plant; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.  That does not allow you to do the work program that allows you to... I'm sorry.

MS. HARE:  That was exactly my next question.  So then they're not available to do any maintenance work or any other discretionary work; is that correct?

MR. PASQUET:  They are available to do work.  They do do work, but that is a small fraction of the total complement that were required to run the facility.

MS. HARE:  Pickering B, continued operations, I heard you, Mr. Pasquet, say this morning that in terms of new components or materials, new activity, that would only be about 10 to 20 percent of the entire package; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MS. HARE:  But did you have any discretion to look at even that portion of costs and capitalize those, rather than expense them?

MR. PASQUET:  So we've had some discussion on that.  The majority -- and let me just say -- speak for a minute.  The majority of the costs are associated with maintenance, and they would not fall under our capital rules.  We have preliminarily looked at until we get the results of the fuel channel life management project to determine that in fact we can get the full four-year extension, that for some of the components, we have decided to defer the decision on whether to capitalize that, that work or not.

So let me put it succinctly.  So for those components we've purchased, if in fact the four years comes to volition, then reviewing whether that effort or that material would fall under capitalization rules would be something we'd look at then.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  The fuel contracts, I realize those are long-term and, I expect, binding contracts, but did you explore at all whether those contracts could be renegotiated, for example, by extending the life of the contract in exchange for a lower rate, or even in cancelling the contract and paying a penalty if that was possible?  Did you look at that at all?

MR. MAUTI:  The contracts we sign, a lot of them are six- to eight-year long-term deals or contracts.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. MAUTI:  And I don't believe we've investigated or explored whether the contracts as negotiated have clauses that would allow for cancellation or termination.  And I don't believe we've gone back to the counterparties to see if they'd be willing to alter or change the terms of the contract.

MS. HARE:  Because sometimes it is possible, even if it's a six- or a seven-year contract, so say:  Okay, I'll add another two years to the length in exchange for, you know, a lower price.  Not the market price, but something lower than what you're paying today.  You didn't look at that?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't know whether they have or haven't within the fuels group, to be honest.

MS. HARE:  My last area is fuel costs.

And looking at the chart that you've provided, it clearly shows the spike at 2007, but to me, it looks like the prices were fairly constant from 2002 to 2006.

Would you be able to provide a graph that shows what those prices looked like in, say, the 10-year period before the big spike?  Like, for example, from 1996 to 2006?  So in other words, add to the first years so that we could get a sense of the volatility that you speak about?

Because when I only look at 2002 to '06, I don't really see the volatility.

MR. MAUTI:  That's true.  And on the assumption that they would have the data historically to go back an extra five years, I think what you would see is a fairly stable pattern.  But I think that should be available to provide.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Could we give that an undertaking, please?

MR. MILLAR:  J5.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.9:  to PROVIDE GRAPH SHOWING FUEL PRICES FOR 10-YEAR PERIOD BEFORE 2007 PRICE SPIKE.

MS. HARE:  And the last question is would you be able to file the documents -- because you talk about industry forecasts -- that would have been used in 2005 that led you to make the decisions you did in 2006?

MR. MAUTI:  So this would be the, I guess, whatever industry analysis, publications we would have used in order to make that determination?

MS. HARE:  Correct.

MR. MAUTI:  Subject to any check on confidentiality.  I'm not sure what our responsibilities are with getting those publications about sharing them, but subject to that, we should go back -- I can go back to at least check to see if those reports are available, and the thought process that went into the setting of that decision back in 2006.

MS. HARE:  Correct.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just on that last, some of those may be subject to licensing agreements, so we'd have to look at the licensing agreement to see whether we could disclose and how we could disclose.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.10:  to PROVIDE INDUSTRY FORECAST DOCUMENTS USED IN 2005 FOR 2006 DECISION, SUBJECT TO CONFIDENTIALITY.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have just a few questions as well.

Perhaps the easiest thing is to take you to some of these evidence references.  I'm looking at Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, pages 22 and 23, and this is the research and development program.  Do you have that?

MR. PASQUET:  Yes, we have it.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I certainly see that this is a modest amount, but my question is how does OPG, essentially, how does OPG decide how much to spend on R&D?

MR. PASQUET:  So there's really two components to it.  One, obviously, to meet our business needs.  The second component of it is we have had discussions with the regulator around what we believe is a reasonable amount of investment in research and development, and so part of this is an understanding with the regulator, associated with the appropriateness of the level of research and development.

And that particular letter has been submitted as an interrogatory, as the general understanding of the level of research and development.

But the other component is clearly to meet business needs.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, would you happen to -- I don't recall seeing that IR.  Do you happen to know the reference?

MR. PASQUET:  Give us a second there.  We'll flip through it, and you can ask your questions.  I'll get my colleagues to find that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  To look for it?  Thanks.

So in terms of being regulator-driven -- well, maybe I'll wait and look at the letter, I guess, just --


MR. MAUTI:  It is at L-12-21, I believe.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And do you know what issue that was under?

MR. MAUTI:  Issue 6.3.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Of course, I'm organized, but not -- my 6.3 is someplace else.  Okay.  Thanks for that.

So you also list here on page 23, you discuss the benefits that you have achieved as a result of these projects.

And I'm wondering, do you have any view as to whether or not -- would significant additional spending result in significant additional benefits?  Potentially, that would also have an impact on your building results?

MR. PASQUET:  At this point in time, the two areas that we are significantly investing in is in the major components, specifically feeders, specifically pressure tubes.

Those are the areas that we believe are basically crucial to the operation, and so we've invested a significant amount of money in those particular areas.

The other area that we do invest in is in EPRI, and so we have attempted to use industry experience for -- a lot of the equipment is common, and so we tend to have joined industry groups, where possible, to build on the experience and knowledge of others, rather than doing, you know, basic research from the start.

So that's the basic strategy that we've used.

If you had asked me:  Well, if you invested another two million, what would be the benefit, I'd have a tough time answering that particular question.  I think the level of investment in research and development is appropriate.  We tend to get the areas that we need.  If there is a specific area or a specific activity we need to delve into, typically, for the balance of the plant on the conventional side of the plant and a lot of the nuclear components, there is an opportunity ask in the industry, and the industry is of such a nature as forthcoming to provide that.

And so I don't necessarily see the need of a whole lot more investment at this point in time, and so it would be tough for me to speculate whether we'd get a whole lot more benefit.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And in terms of the discussion you have with the regulator regarding what the appropriate amount is, do you sort of see that value as being sort of the minimum that you're required to spend to meet regulatory requirements?

MR. PASQUET:  The expectation from the regulator was you're at least that, or above.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And sorry, because I don't have that in front of me, are you -- is that the level you are essentially at?  Is that base level?

MR. PASQUET:  A bit above that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  A bit above?

MR. KEIZER:  If you wish, we can hand the letter up to you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No, no.  I have it.  I just don't have it in my panel-specific binder.

Now, completely switching topics, and I'm looking at Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 3, attachment 1, the business case for the Pickering B continued operations, and I'm looking at page 7 of 18.

And this is where you discuss the fact that Pickering A would be in a position to continue operations, and that if you didn't have -- and that at any given time, you would not operate only two units.

MR. PASQUET:  Two Pickering A units.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I am wondering, what would be the impact, or did you consider what the impact would be, if you go ahead and do this work, but for some reason Pickering A actually has to close down or reduce production sooner than expected, or a decision is taken that way?

Does that end up meaning that the Pickering B units would effectively need to be wrapped up in 2018, rather than having two units go the extra two years?

MR. PASQUET:  So the reliance on Pickering A from Pickering -- so in other words, Pickering B's reliance on Pickering A is not the same as vice versa, and in fact, in '97 when we did shut down Pickering A, Pickering B was able to successfully operate with the fact that Pickering A was shut down.

MS. CHAPLIN:  With only two units of Pickering B?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, I'm looking at the appendix D, which is just a few -- I guess it's the page 18 of 18, where it sets out the assumptions from your modelling.  And there's been quite a bit of discussion around it, and I know there's an undertaking, which I suspect is going to provide a bit more of the detail.

But I'm trying to understand, initially, at least at a high level.  When you did the economic analysis, have you incorporated the fact that prior to the extended production period, you're going to be incurring these increased outages to accommodate that benefit, shall we say, and that, therefore, you're having higher costs for your output now, and, therefore, potentially costs associated with replacement supply now?  By "now", I mean in the period in which you would be doing the work to then extend the life.

MR. PASQUET:  So when we did the analysis -- and, actually, there's -- the table shows expenditures and it shows the loss of electrical production as a result of doing the outages.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And where is that?

MR. PASQUET:  So if you go to appendix -- page 17.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  And you look at the top table.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  And what it shows, the -- it's -- the bottom line there, it's the total incremental/decremental terawatt-hours.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  And so it shows not only the positive for running the site longer, but it also shows the impact of the extended outages on the terawatt production.  And so the benefit, then, is the sum of the benefit minus the decrement.  And that's where we came up with the 105 terawatt-hours.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, looking at -- just flipping on a few pages further into the letter from the OPA, and I am looking at page 2.

And so if I understand it correctly, the material that appears in italics is the OPA's sort of independent analysis, but based on the 104 terawatt-hours that you provided them?

MR. PASQUET:  That is my understanding.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So when we see your NPV analysis, some of these assumptions will be different?

MR. PASQUET:  We provided them the information.  We didn't tell them what assumptions to use.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Now, for example, the assumed carbon price of $20 a tonne, was that an assumption that OPG used, as well?

MR. PASQUET:  We used a slightly different number.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And what was the basis for that assumption?

MR. PASQUET:  For the 20 or the 17?

MS. CHAPLIN:  For either, for having a price for carbon at all, and then also what the level was?

MR. PASQUET:  I can't comment on how the OPA determined the 20.  For the 17, it was our judgment going forward of what the carbon price would be.  In fact, there's an interrogatory that talks to a range of carbon prices, potential for the future.  And we actually chose the lower end of that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then above that, so it -- and I'm using this as a proxy for the numbers that you have, on the understanding that your numbers, while different, are the same kind of approach.  And it's referring to the forecast of the 104 terawatt-hours, and it refers to the total incremental cost of $5.4 billion.  And this represents a unit cost of about $51 per megawatt-hour.

Now, but that's not what ratepayers will pay for each of those additional megawatts of power that's produced from Pickering B, is it?

MR. PASQUET:  No.  I mean, the price -- the price out of Pickering B will be the cost of the energy coming out of the units or -- excuse me, the total energy divided by the cost.  And so that will give you your unit rate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And it will be higher than that, right, because it will include -- it won't just include incremental costs.  It will include all of the costs that are -- the components that are currently in that price?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Because the cost of Pickering now is not the $51 per megawatt-hour?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So just at a high level, comparing that, does that result in a fair comparison, from the perspective of if a ratepayer is looking at this?  Like, in other words, if Pickering keeps running, I'm going to pay X for what is produced versus if it shuts down, what am I going to pay for the alternative?

So is it an apples-to-apples comparison?

MR. PASQUET:  So when we did the business case, we said, Okay, there is going to be a cost of the energy coming out of Pickering.  And so we took that into account.  And so we compared the cost of the energy produced by the Pickering units, and we compared it to what our understanding or our judgment is what the system energy value would be, in the event that we weren't running Pickering.  And so we subtracted the two, and that's how we came up with the 1.1, which is an actual benefit to ratepayers.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So -- but what do you mean by the cost to Pickering?  Just the incremental cost associated?

MR. PASQUET:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN: So you used an all-in --


MR. PASQUET:  All-in.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry.

MR. PASQUET:  Sorry.  I apologize.  We did not include just the incremental cost.  We used the total cost of Pickering.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

Just one more question on nuclear fuel.  And you may have already answered this, but so I -- but have you commissioned any external analysis of your strategy and review of the success?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe we have, no.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Is that something that you have 

-- is it something that you've considered?

MR. MAUTI:  Again, I guess the strategy that we feel we're following is providing us the value on our unit costs.  I know, from a benchmarking sense, we're at sort of the top end.  And irrespective of the fact there's even other CANDUs in the benchmarking exercise that we have done with ScottMadden and which is defined in the benchmarking report as being Bruce Power, our costs are competitive to theirs.

From that sense, sort of we feel that that's a good indication of our ability to be competitive, especially with another CANDU organization who does have cost efficiency as one of their sort of assumed goals in terms of managing their fuel.

So from that end, we feel it's an appropriate strategy which is putting us in a good position.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And I'm looking at Exhibit -- interrogatory L-14, schedule 20, and this is under issue 6.6.  And there have been some questions around -- and I'm looking at the public version, the non-confidential version.

And you were asked about -- there you were asked -- the question was -- made a reference to price risk being fully borne by ratepayers.  And OPG's response was that the underlying premise of the question was incorrect, and there was a bit of discussion about that already.

And I'm wondering, on the assumption that the procurement is prudent and is found to be prudent, isn't it the case that the result of the operation of the deferral and variance accounts will be that ratepayers bear the market price risk?

MR. MAUTI:  The ratepayers would bear the risk, whether that's positive or negative to what our forecasts could be, depending on how the market works in relation to what our forecast is.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And on what -- what's the rationale or thinking around why it's appropriate for -- and I realize a decision was made in the last proceeding.  I understand that.  But what's the current thinking and rationale around why that's an appropriate risk for ratepayers to bear?

MR. MAUTI:  From my understanding of how variance and deferral accounts work, the major component of variation within our fuel cost is the price of uranium, which, at least since the 2004 time period, has had a great degree of volatility, something that even if you go to just using the market basis, would subject our estimate of our fuel forecast costs to be subject to a great deal of volatility that is somewhat beyond our control in terms of the market price itself.

And so we feel that's an appropriate use of sort of variance and deferral account process through the OEB.  And I'm sure our variance and deferral account panel can maybe talk about the appropriateness of that account, as well, going forward.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  I think Ms. Spoel does have a question.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, I have one quick question.  I notice that the costs of the tritium removal facility are all included within the costs, the OM&A costs, for Darlington; am I correct?

MR. PASQUET:  Correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  Is there any sort of accounting or cost allocation for the fact that those units or that facility is used for Pickering A and Pickering B, as well?  Or do you simply just allocate all the costs of operating it to Darlington?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, when we do our fully distributed and allocated costs that we use as part of our benchmarking, that you've seen in other panels, we do take that TRF, tritium removal facility, and we do allocate it amongst the other operating units.  So that when you see a total generating cost or non-fuel operating cost, it includes that allocation.

MS. SPOEL:  So the reference that's in the -- I've lost my page with the reference, but there was a reference to the costs.  Oh, it's on Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8.  There's a reference to the costs of operating the TRF at Darlington.

MR. MAUTI:  Yeah, for budgeting purposes, it is all managed within the Darlington budget, which is why you see it under the "Darlington" heading here, but for fairness and equity as we do the other allocations, it is allocated to the other --


MS. SPOEL:  And I think you also sell some of those services to third parties as well; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Right.  But the fact than the TRF is actually used to process the heavy water used for operations, the basic maintenance and operation of that facility isn't allocated to non-energy revenues.

Any specific costs, direct in terms of handling the TRF, the tritium that's used for actual sales, that is segregated and considered a direct cost that's charged against the other non-energy revenues, but the basic operation of the facility outside of that is kept as an operating cost.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Those are the Panel's questions.  Do you have any re-examination?

MR. KEIZER:  I have no re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  The panel is excused, with the Board's thanks.

I think it makes sense to take the lunch break now, because when we return we will be beginning with panel 5.

So we'll take an hour.  And we will return.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:17 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:29 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Keizer, are you ready with your next panel?


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We have the pleasure of presenting to you the nuclear projects panel.  And maybe I can introduce the panellists before they go forward to be sworn.

Starting first with the panellist that's closest to me is Mr. Fred Dermarkar, and next to you, Mr. Dermarkar, is Mr. Mark Arnone, and then at the very end of the panel is Mr. Jamie Lawrie.  If I can ask them to go forward sworn, please?
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 5

Mark Arnone, Sworn


Fred Dermarkar, Sworn


Jamie Lawrie, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions in direct examination for each of the witnesses before making them available for cross-examination.

Starting first with you, Mr. Dermarkar, I note from your CV that you are the director engineering services; is that correct?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And is your microphone on?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And also in that capacity, that you are involved with project design engineering, specialized -- you also deal with specialized engineering services to the OPG nuclear fleet, and you also deal with engineering programs, which include such things as equipment, chemistry software, technology risk, and reliability; is that correct?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  It's working now.  And you are a graduate from the University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Applied Science, mechanical engineering; is that correct?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee with Ontario Power Generation or its predecessor since 1981?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Dermarkar, you -- with respect to the prefiled evidence in this proceeding relating to nuclear projects, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And were you responsible or involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories posed in respect of that prefiled evidence?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Yes, I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Mr. Arnone, just turning my attention to your CV, I note that you are vice president refurbishment execution; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, it is.

MR. KEIZER:  And in that capacity, you are involved in providing leadership to ensure successful execution of the Darlington project?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And is you're also involved in management of labour relations in respect to the various unions?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And developing and recommending overall strategic direction for project management and field execution; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, it is.

MR. KEIZER:  And you're here in a capacity today to deal with the issue of nuclear projects filed in this proceeding?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have a bachelor of engineering, mechanical, from Lakehead University, correct?


MR. ARNONE:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of either Ontario Power Generation or its predecessor since 1990?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And the prefiled evidence filed in this proceeding relating to nuclear projects was prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, it was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. ARNONE:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And were you responsible or involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories provided or filed in respect of the prefiled evidence?

MR. ARNONE:  I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Lawrie, I note from your CV that you are director investment management; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And in that position, you are involved with overseeing the development and maintenance of OPG's nuclear operations' project portfolio?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you also deal with the implementation of applicable corporate OPG nuclear policies, directives and standards related to the nuclear operations project portfolio; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have a Bachelor of Science in chemistry from Carleton University; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And you have been an employee of Ontario Power Generation or its predecessor, Ontario Hydro, since 1987?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And so, with respect to the prefiled evidence in this proceeding relating to nuclear project, was that prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. LAWRIE:  It was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. LAWRIE:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And were you responsible or involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories filed in respect of this prefiled evidence?

MR. LAWRIE:  I was.

MR. KEIZER:  And do you adopt that evidence for purposes of this proceeding?

MR. LAWRIE:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I don't have any other direct examination, and so the panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren, I have you first on my list.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Panel, my name is Robert Warren.  I appear as counsel in this matter to the Consumers Council of Canada.  I have only a very few questions for you.  And in that connection, I will deal almost entirely with two pieces of prefiled evidence.  One is Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1, and, in addition to that, I will make reference to Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1.  And I'll give you the page references as we go through.

My first question or series of questions, panel, is just to clarify the areas that you are covering in your testimony, and, in that connection, if you could look at page 1 of 20 of Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1 under the heading "Purpose", it states, and I quote:
"This evidence provides an overview of the nuclear operations capital budget for the historical period, bridge year and the test period.  It also provides period-over-period explanations and an overview of the nuclear project management processes."


And then it says:
"This evidence does not address the generation development capital budgets for Darlington Refurbishment and New Nuclear Build at Darlington, which are discussed at Ex D2-T2-S1." 

It's the next sentence I want to focus on:
"Together, operations capital and generation development capital make up the total Nuclear capital budget, as presented in Ex. D2-T1-S1 Table 1."

Now, if you could just turn up table 1 for me, please, and my question is a simple one, I hope.

Does table 1 include anything related to Darlington or not?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, it does.

MR. WARREN:  It does, okay.  So notwithstanding the fact that your evidence doesn't address Darlington and new nuclear build at Darlington, table 1 does include Darlington; is that right?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, it does.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  My next question, then, is related to the processes, if you wish, by which you arrive at the decisions which are embodied in this evidence; that is, the non-Darlington evidence.

Now, in that connection, if you could turn up Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 12 of 14 and beginning at line 15, I quote:
"To assess an investment’s value in the context of the overall Ontario electricity system, its cost is evaluated against the estimated value to the electricity system of the additional capacity and energy expressed on $/MWh basis - the system economic value ('SEV').  OPG's develops the SEV based on a number of inputs including forecast demand, fuel prices, CO2 offset cost, cost of new generation (typically combined cycle and simple cycle gas plants) and publicly available information on committed generation plans in Ontario (e.g., OPA contracts). OPG also considers relevant environmental legislation and policies (e.g., air emission limits..."
And so on.  Have I read that correctly?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And is it the case that these considerations, the ones I've just quoted, informed the budget figures which appear in Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1?

MR. LAWRIE:  What do you mean by, sorry, "inform"?  They form the basis of the budget?

MR. WARREN:  Did you consider all those factors in arriving at the budget figures in Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1?

MR. LAWRIE:  No, not for the new nuclear portfolio projects.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the reason I ask the question is that my understanding from the prefiled evidence is that all of those factors did go into the nuclear fleet, but I misunderstood that; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  I don't recall that, sorry.

MR. WARREN:  You don't recall that appearing anywhere in the evidence?

MR. LAWRIE:  Sorry, the question again?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Perhaps if you could turn up Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5 of 20, the heading, 3.0, is:  "Nuclear project management processes."

Do you see that?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, I see that.

MR. WARREN:  And I quote:

“The OPG corporate investment project approval processes are outlined in Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1."

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, I see that.

MR. WARREN:  Sections 5.0 and 6.0.
"The nuclear project management processes outlined below are developed within and consistent with that framework.  Other than specific improvements noted within this evidence, the core elements of these processes are unchanged from information presented in EB-2007-0905."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I concluded from that, perhaps incorrectly, that the description of what is considered on page 12 of 14 was considered when you came up with a budget for the nuclear capital.

MR. LAWRIE:  When we came up with the budget for nuclear capital, we came up with a budget based on benchmarking and based on doability associated with our project portfolio for capital.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And sorry, just to be clear, none of the factors that are outlined on page 12 of 14 of A2, tab 2, schedule 1, were considered in coming up with the nuclear budget; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  The nuclear budget for the project portfolio capital; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thanks. 

Now, the second component of Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1, if you could look at page 3 of 14, and there are three bulleted items which appear at the top of the page, the third of which says, and I quote:

“The draft consolidated business plan based on these updated submissions is reviewed by OPG senior management."

And it's the following sentence I want to focus on:

“The plan is also reviewed with shareholder representatives."

Can you tell me if the budget for which you're speaking today, which is set out or described in Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1, was that reviewed with shareholder representatives?

MR. LAWRIE:  The budget we have here was in the business plan, and my understanding is yes, it has been shared.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Do you know with whom it was shared?  Who were the shareholder representatives with whom it was shared?

MR. LAWRIE:  I do not know specifically who it was shared with.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Does any other member of the panel know that?

MR. ARNONE:  No, I don't think we're aware of the individuals.

MR. WARREN:  Would there be some other panel that's coming up that would answer that question?

MR. KEIZER:  That would be the finance panel, 9.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  I'll defer the questions to them.  Thank you very much.

My third category of questions is, if you could turn to table 2 of Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1, line 8 with the heading "Subtotal project capital portfolio" has for the 2010 budget, the 2011 plan and the 2012 plan, the exact same number of $172 million.  Do you see that?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Is that just a miraculous synchronicity, panel, or was that your plan?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's our top-down target-setting associated with our capital investment budget for the nuclear projects.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me how close you are to the -– where are you in terms of 2010 actual spending?

MR. LAWRIE:  2010 actual spending is tracking very close to our targeted amount, and we project it to be within 10 percent by year-end.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  If it's 10 percent below, which would put it at what, roughly 150 million?

MR. LAWRIE:  Well, most likely, we're projecting closer to 160 million.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Do the projected figures of 172 for 2011/2012, do they reflect a decision to hold the spending level at a particular level?

MR. LAWRIE:  They reflected the amount that we would like to invest, based on our benchmarking and our doability of executing capital projects.

MR. WARREN:  And if the actuals for 2010 come in at 160 million, would you be prepared to reduce -- is it reasonable to expect you would reduce 2011/2012 to 160?

MR. LAWRIE:  No.  We believe that 172 is the preferred budget for and maintaining capital investments in our nuclear assets, based on benchmarking, and based on our ability to execute the capital works.  And we would use our asset investment screening process, our project portfolio management process, to bring priority projects forward and have them executed.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  My last set of questions actually requires a reference, and you may not be the panel to answer this.  I preface that by -- it actually requires a reference to the Board's first decision on OPG in EB-2007-0905.  Could you get a copy of that decision?  And I am referring in particular to pages 34 and 35.

MR. ARNONE:  All right.  Can you repeat those pages again?

MR. WARREN:  34 and 35, and in particular to the Board's findings, which appear on page 35 in respect of the P2 -- I'm sorry, so-called P2P3 isolation project costs.

And if you go through that paragraph, the second full paragraph under "Board Findings," about two-thirds of the way down it to says, and I quote:
"The Board directs OPG to provide in its next application a more detailed analysis of the nature of the costs and why accounting standards require that such costs be capitalized as part of the book values of the operating units, rather than treated as costs of shutting down units."

Now, I don't see that in the evidence for which you folks are responsible.  Is it some other panel that's going to deal with that?

MR. ARNONE:  That in the information that we provided.  If you just give me a moment to find that reference for you.

So our reference is D2, tab 1, schedule 1.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. ARNONE:  Page 18 of 20, starting off at section 8.0, which is line 19.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  And that, I take it, is your response to the Board's requirement in that decision; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That is correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Sorry, panel, and with apologies, I have one last follow-up question on the first series of questions that I asked -- or second series.

And if you could go back, panel, to A2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 12, in that section of the prefiled evidence I referred you to, beginning at line 15, it lists a number of factors that are used to assess an investment's value.  And as I understood your testimony in response to my questions, was that these factors were not considered as part of the nuclear capital budget.

And with apologies for my ignorance, and I'll deal with this only at an intuitive level, it would seem that these kinds of considerations would be relevant to a budgeting process, particularly given the amount of money that's being contemplated in your budget.

And my question is:  Why would you not consider these factors when you come up with your budget?

MR. LAWRIE:  These factors here are associated with, we would look at maintaining our current assets, reliability and plant production.  So our capital projects portfolio - this is the $172 million per year that we've identified - is pretty much associated with sustaining the assets that we have operating today, not associated with the budget allocation for new generation, for example.

And in those cases, the system economic values would be used.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, panel.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Next on my list I have the PWU.  I don't believe there's anybody.  Okay.

Next, Mr. Millar, were you going next?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm prepared to go now, Madam Chair, if that assists.

I would like to start, Madam Chair, by introducing a compendium of documents for panel 5.  I would propose to call this Exhibit K5.2.  And, once again, this is a collection of documents taken, in this case, entirely from the prefiled materials or the interrogatories.  So unless I'm mistaken, I think every document that I'm going to refer to directly, in any event, is already part of the record, but I produce it just to make the cross-examination run a bit more smoothly.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR PANEL 5.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Witness panel, do you have that booklet of documents?

MR. ARNONE:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  I have some questions in three areas.  But before I start that, I did have a question for panel 3, I guess it was yesterday, that was punted to this panel.  So I'd like to start off with that.

If I could ask you to turn, in fact, to the very last page of the booklet of documents, I just tagged this on at the end.  I had some questions for your colleagues on panel 3 regarding the Pickering B continued operations project, and I took them to this table 3, which is on page 20 of the booklet.  And you'll see at line 3 there is a line item for Pickering B NGS; do you see that?

MR. LAWRIE:  I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And there are 15 projects, for a total of $22.4 million?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And my question for them was I asked them to confirm for me or to indicate if any of those projects related to the Pickering B continued operations project, and they told me to ask you.

MR. LAWRIE:  None of those projects less than $5 million are related to the Pickering B continued operations project.

MR. MILLAR:  So you can confirm none of this shows --


MR. LAWRIE:  I can confirm that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  My first real area are some questions about your feeder repair by weld overlay project.  To whom should I direct those questions?

MR. LAWRIE:  Are they technical questions?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, why don't I just ask, and whoever wants to can answer them?  First of all, maybe I could begin by -- could somebody on the panel tell me in 20 seconds or less what this project is?

MR. DERMARKAR:  In 20 seconds or less, we have -- feeder pipes are pipes that connect the reactor to the steam generators, so they carry water away from the reactor to the steam generators.  There are elbows in those pipes.  We are seeing thinning of those elbows.

The intent of the weld overlay project is to build up material on those elbows and offset the thinning so they can maintain their structural integrity and not fail.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  So you're essentially thickening them from the outside?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.  We are thickening them from the outside.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much for that.  If you could turn to page 1 of the Staff compendium, it's an excerpt from Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1b.  Do you have that?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look down to line 41, we see, it's very small, but it says "Feeder Repair By Weld Overlay".  And if you carry that across, you'll see the in-service addition of $40.3 million for 2011; do you see that?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you continue along that line, I guess you see the budgeted and planned amounts, 34.4 million for 2010, and then $2.4 million for 2011?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Just a clarification question to start.  I note that 34.4 and 2.4 give you 36.8 and not 40.3.  Is there a reason for that discrepancy?

MR. LAWRIE:  I don't have a reason for it off -- off right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Those numbers should sum to 40.3, or would there be other money hidden elsewhere?

MR. LAWRIE:  There won't be any money hidden elsewhere.

MR. MILLAR:  "Hidden" is the wrong word.  Found somewhere else?

MR. LAWRIE:  There -- I don't have an answer for the discrepancy.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you be able to provide it by undertaking?  Is that something that you could find out?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, I can find out the discrepancy between the total in-service and the budgeted amounts.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  That's J5.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.11:  TO PROVIDE DISCREPANCY IN NUMBERS FOR BUDGETED AND PLANNED AMOUNTS IN LINE "FEEDER REPAIR BY WELD OVERLAY", EXHIBIT D2, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2, TABLE 1B.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you confirm for me, though, that 40.3 million is the appropriate rate base closing amount, or at least it is in this chart?

MR. LAWRIE:  It is in the chart.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Now, you provided a business case summary for this project, and I've reproduced some sections of it.  If you could flip to page 2 of the booklet, looking at what we have in the business case summary, you'll see the capital amounts under -- I guess it says "requested now".  That's where you see, in 2009, 5 million; 2010, just over 45 million; and just over 3 million in 2011?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you carry across, of course that gives you a total of 53 million and change?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And obviously that number is different from the 40.3 we saw on the amount that you were proposing to close to rate base.  Can you help me out why those numbers are different?  Did you just realize some savings, or what happened?

MR. LAWRIE:  I can't answer that right now.  I would have to check that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could we add that to the previous undertaking?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would be to explain the discrepancy between the $53 million shown in the business case summary and the 40.3 million shown in Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2.  I understand that this project involves or involved several stages; is that right?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the first stage covered proof-of-concept, development, pre-tool development and preliminary engineering?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the costs for that were about 16-1/2 million dollars, all of which was O&M?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's the 65.2 million you see on page 2 of our exhibit book?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And stages 2 through 4, I may be missing something, but, by and large, they include the detailed design and prototype fabrication of the weld overlay tools, fabrication and mock-up testing, and commissioning based on the stage 1 results.  Is that a fair summary?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's the capital that the application has to close to rate base in 2011, the $40.3 million?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, when we move forward with tool fabrication.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. LAWRIE:  Actual capital assets.

MR. ARNONE:  The 53 million that shows in the BCS includes contingency.  The 40 million that we show in the table does not include the contingency that we carried in the BCS.  So that discrepancy is strictly in the amount of contingency that was carried in the project.

MR. MILLAR:  So why did you remove the contingency from the closing to rate base amount?

MR. ARNONE:  Our proposed -- the methodology behind the way we manage projects is that contingency is there specifically for particular items.  If we don't believe or if our confidence is high that we will not need that contingency, then we would use a lower number in rate base.  As we execute our projects, we become more familiar with the need to have that contingency used.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So to the extent -- I guess since -- this project may not be the best example, for reasons we'll get into in a moment.

MR. ARNONE:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  But when you're closing an amount to rate base, I guess you check where you are in your budgeting and, to the extent it looks like you won't be using your contingency amounts, you don't put those into the amounts proposed to close to rate base?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  And in this case, obviously, you felt the contingency wasn't going to be necessary, or at least a portion of it?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Right.  Mr. Millar, does that satisfy that additional part of the undertaking for you?

MR. MILLAR:  I think that does satisfy the second part of the undertaking.  Thank you.  I'd just like to -- back to this stage 1 versus the rest.  The business case summary you can see at the bottom is dated May 15th, 2009, and that's where you requested the release of what at that time was about $53.2 million in capital to proceed with the stage 2 and beyond; is that right?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, it's also true that stage 1 was not finished when you requested the release of these funds; is that right?

MR. LAWRIE:  The full scope of phase 1 was not completed at that time.

MR. MILLAR:  And as we already discussed, it was $16.5 million in O&M for Phase I.

Okay.  If I could ask you to flip to page 3 of the booklet, this is Staff IR No. 32.  And if I can just -- do you have that?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could sort of summarize what we asked for, we essentially asked for an update of where this project was, in particular, with regard to Stage II.  And your response was, if you look down to response (v), the final sentence that that first paragraph says, cutting to the chase:

“As a result, a decision was made to defer Stage II of the weld overlay project."

And then the next sentence states:


 "The deferral period is three years."

Do you see that?

MR. LAWRIE:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So first of all, can you confirm for me that this project will not, in fact, close to rate base in 2011?

MR. LAWRIE:  The capital assets will not close to rate base in 2011 for the feeder weld overlay.

MR. MILLAR:  And nor will they close to rate base in 2012?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay so.  So the earliest we would be looking at is 2013?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I'm not going to ask for a specific adjustment, but I presume this will require an adjustment to what the revenue requirement is; is that fair?

MR. LAWRIE:  It may.  However, other capital projects have emerged since this project was deferred, and we have invested and completed those capital works.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, we may have to discuss that later.  I'm not sure if that evidence is currently before us.  But let me put it to you this way.

Everything else being equal, I take it what we would do to adjust the revenue requirement would simply be to remove the rate base amounts for the two test years, and then also remove the depreciation amounts?  Would that be the appropriate regulatory treatment to ensure that there's no recovery for these projects in the test years?

MR. ARNONE:  As we discuss in our evidence in D2, tab 1, schedule 1, on page 6, we speak to our asset investment screening committee.

The objective behind that committee is to manage all of the investments that are -- that take place within our facilities.

When a project like this is put on deferral, that allows that committee to look at the next highest priority projects, and bring them forward so that we can continue to maintain our assets.

So there is never a time when that funding isn't utilized for high-priority work.

MR. MILLAR:  So are you still seeking to recover the $40.3 million?  I know it doesn't work out dollar-for-dollar; are you keeping that amount in rate base for the test years?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, we are.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Even though you're not doing the project?

MR. LAWRIE:  Not this project, but other project works have come forward and have been completed or will be completed.

MR. MILLAR:  And do we have full details on all those projects?

MR. LAWRIE:  They haven't been submitted in the evidence that was prepared earlier last year.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So are you asking the Board to approve projects it has no information about?  I shouldn't say approve projects.  We don't actually approve project.  Approve revenue requirement amounts for projects that we have no details about?

MR. ARNONE:  The total dollar amount of the $172 million of capital is the value that we look at in terms of, as my colleague Mr. Lawrie spoke to earlier, with the investment required to maintain our facilities.

At that point we do -- as mentioned in our evidence, that we manage the work based on -- or the projects that will be executed for that amount, based on priority.

So we have therefore taken this project out so that we are not spending funds that aren't required, but have substituted high-priority projects that were brought forward into that amount.

So the amount that we're looking for is the total amount.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say you've "substituted" you mean you've substituted internally; is that correct?  You haven't substituted something into your application?

MR. ARNONE:  We have substituted internally.  As the process describes, every month we are looking at the entire portfolio and ensuring that our investment strategy and that the projects, as some projects come in under budget or, in this case deferred, that we're able to bring other work forward, so that we continue to maintain the expected reliability of our assets.

MR. MILLAR:  You talk about high-priority.  This money would go to other high priority projects?  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So if they were high-priority, why weren't they in the original application?

MR. ARNONE:  As Mr. Lawrie explained, this is a top-down development of our budgets.  We developed that the $172-million limit was a correct limit to maintain our assets.  And therefore we apportion that to the first high-priority projects.

In this particular case, as this was deferred, it allows for projects that may have been executed in subsequent years to be brought forward and executed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So essentially what OPG is seeking is an envelope amount for capital projects.  You've provided us with list with at least what you thought at the time were the projects you were going to do.

But the Board shouldn't consider these to be the actual projects you intend to spend your capital budget on?  Not necessarily?

MR. ARNONE:  Again, our approach is always that we put in the information that we have available at the time.  But it's as the responsibility of the asset investment screening committee to manage the methodology and the jobs that we execute, would have us move particular jobs forward or deferred, so that they're the right investment for the business.

So that yes, it's the envelope, and we are managing the work that happens within that envelope.

At the time, that project was on the list.  Subsequently deferred.  Other projects have been brought forward.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if I have this right, essentially what you ask for, for your capital budget, you ask for an amount of money.  And of course, you gave us a list of projects that you think that money will go to.

But you're not actually tying any specific project to the budget.  You're asking for a budget, and then you'll spend the money on the projects as, I guess, your internal needs dictate?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I think I understand.  Thank you.

If we could go back to page 2, I just want to confirm a couple of things.

The OM&A costs for Phase I, those have all already been spent; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  They've all -- that's correct.  They've already been spent or committed under contracts.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so you're not seeking any recovery for those OM&A costs through the current application?

MR. LAWRIE:  No, those costs will be completed this year.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move on to the next project. 

I have some questions about the project to improve the maintenance facility at Darlington.  And maybe the best place -- in fact, why don't we start again, if I could ask for another 20-second summary of what this project is?

MR. ARNONE:  The facility project looked at the requirements to maintain our Darlington station.

And as we looked at the areas where maintenance is currently being performed, we assessed both against the Codes of the day, to ensure that the facilities that were being used met the Code, as well as were we getting the efficiencies out of the individuals to be able to work in the locations that they were operating in.

With that, we made an assessment that currently they were scattered all throughout our plant, and needed to bring the maintenance organization together to be able to gain the efficiencies of performing the numerous maintenance functions that are required to maintain our plants.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.

Again, on page 1, I'll be referring to the same table that I referred to for the weld overlay project.

Here, you'll see at line 3 the improved maintenance facilities at Darlington project.  If you carry along, we see the in-service date is 2012, and the amounts proposed to close to rate base at that time of just under 40 million, 39.9.

And then we look at the year-over-year costs to the right of that.  And again, I'm not sure if you'll be able to answer this, but when I add all that up, I get to $44 million, the year-over-year costs, as opposed to 39.9 for the amounts closing to rate base.

Are you able to help with this one?  Why don't those numbers add up?

And I could take an undertaking, if you would like.

MR. ARNONE:  I'm not aware of the discrepancy, in terms of what's caused it for this particular table.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can we agree that 39.9 million, subject to things I think we're about to talk about, but 39.9 million is the amount you're proposing to close to rate base?

MR. ARNONE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that would be Undertaking J5.12, and that is to reconcile from Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1B -- reconcile the amount proposed to close to rate base in 2012 with the year-over-year capital expenditures.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.12:  TO RECONCILE FROM EXHIBIT D2, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2, TABLE 1B THE AMOUNT PROPOSED TO CLOSE TO RATE BASE IN 2012 WITH THE YEAR-OVER-YEAR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES.

MR. MILLAR:  And you provided a business case summary for this project, as well, and I've copied some excerpts from that.  If you could ask you to turn to page 6 of the compendium?

Unfortunately, the way the copying came out, the "6" kind of looks like a 10.  So you might want to make sure you've got the page before, 7 and after 5.  The top of the "6" was cut off, but it is the business case summary for this project, or an excerpt from it.  Do you have that?

WITNESS PANEL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, again, it shows the year-over-year 

-- I guess they were the projected expenses at the time, the capital costs, half a million in 2007, and so it goes, until we get a total of $57.7 million; do you see that?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, again, we have a somewhat significant difference here from the 40 million that you're proposing to close to rate base.  Was this also a contingency issue, or can you confirm that?

MR. ARNONE:  There are a number of things at play, both whether it's contingency or as well as you'll see that there's funding included for demolition and for other activities.

So there are other items within that overall number that bring it down.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  I'm sorry, I want to back up just for a second, because something has just clued into me.  On the weld overlay project, you stated that you had reduced the BCS number to $40 million because of reduced contingency; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But of course nothing is actually closing to rate base from that project in 2011 or 2012.  So are you -- since that project has been pushed out three years, how is it that you're still confident the contingency there won't be used?

MR. ARNONE:  Again, the question was relative to what was in the information.  And process-wise, at the time, that's what we submitted.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. ARNONE:  With the change, clearly I would not be able to determine whether the contingency will be necessary.  If and when the project is restarted in 2013, it will be re-evaluated to determine if contingency is required at that point.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I understand.  Thank you.

And, again, I'm sorry, I lost my own train of thought there.  I had asked you about the difference in the business case summary amounts for this facility versus the rate base amounts.  Had you completed your answer on that?

MR. ARNONE:  I spoke it to.  If you'll look in the BCS, in the first paragraph, starting at the word "at this stage", so it's the second last sentence.  So it's the estimated total cost, 44.6 out of the 57.5, which included contingency.  And you'll see that 1.6 million is, as well, required for demolition.

So there are other things that work into that number, and as we go through and get more information either -- from a vendor providing us a cost estimate, then we will only ever put in the amount that we believe is necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Could you flip to page 7 of the booklet?  This is Staff IR No. 25.  And here's another instance in which we -- essentially, if I can paraphrase, we're looking for sort of an update on this project.

And, indeed, it seems there's quite an update to this project; is that fair?

MR. ARNONE:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, in fact, you've entirely, put it this way, rejigged the entire project?

MR. ARNONE:  We've changed the project based on our business needs.  And the operating experience, from having run other projects inside the protected area, we've learned more information about how much it costs and some of the challenges that we have in performing that work inside the protected area and found a better alternative for the facility.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, let's take these one at a time.  First, maybe you could turn to page 10 of the Staff booklet.  And just to explain what this is, this is a business case summary for -- I don't want to call it -- it's essentially the same project, but it is a new business case summary for the project, is that correct, or an updated business case summary?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, this is the updated business case for this project.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm sorry, I took you sort of to the middle instead of to the first page.  I apologize if I wasn't clear.  And we do have at least some other pages from the business case summary there.

But, again, on page 10, I just want to take a look at the new numbers.  We'll see the total project costs again, this time running from 2009 to 2013.  And so the total is now just under $50 million; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it's not going close to -- I'm not sure how to phrase this.

It will not be completed until at least 2013 now?

MR. ARNONE:  It will not be placed completely in service until 2013.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it would not close to rate base until 2013?

MR. ARNONE:  There are elements, in building construction like this, that would allow us to begin the usage of certain parts of the building.  And so we would look to begin to utilize that work or those areas as early as 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is possible, if you actually close -- if you close things to rate base the way I thought you did, though it appears I'm wrong, some of these amounts would have closed in 2012, some of the 50 million?

MR. ARNONE:  The process has us -- as we put our capital projects into service, so where we can declare any part of our project available for service that can be used for its intended function, we would begin to utilize that structure, that building, that piece of equipment.  And, in this case, the way the building is designed and built will allow us to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you give me an idea of what portion of the 50 million would be in service in 2012?  And I'm happy to take an undertaking if it's not something you can do off the top of your head.

MR. ARNONE:  Yeah, I would -- I don't have the exact number, but I would suspect that it's somewhere in the order of $25 to $30 million of the building.

MR. MILLAR:  I'd prefer to have a more or less firm number, so could I ask you for an undertaking, or is that your final number?

MR. ARNONE:  I believe at this point that's about where we'd be in terms of being able to estimate it, based on the status of the project.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So $25 to $30 million you anticipate being in service in 2012?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And nothing in 2011?

MR. ARNONE:  We don't expect anything in 2011; that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I had a series of questions about how we would make appropriate reductions to the rate base amount, assuming that at least a large chunk of it won't be in service during the test years.  But I take it your answer would be the same, that you're not proposing to make any adjustments to the rate base amounts for the test years?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So even though this project itself is not going forward, at least in the way that you had envisioned, you will take that money and spend it on some other capital project?

MR. ARNONE:  We will -- as mentioned, we will spend it on the other high priority work as developed by our asset investment screening committee.

MR. MILLAR:  There have been a number of questions, more from my friends than myself, frankly - chiefly from Mr. DeRose, and I think from Mr. Warren, as well - and they were questions about how, essentially, OPG's planning -- and whether or not there was any place that they could make some additional cuts to assist ratepayers, to assist with rising rates.

And, indeed, there was the letter from the Minister that I think everyone is familiar with, and OPG's response.  And to paraphrase all of that -- and if I get it wrong, someone will to me, but essentially the message from OPG was, We have made every cut we possibly can, and we're not -- aside from extending the recovery period for certain deferral accounts, we can't cut any more.

And from what I see here is you actually -- there are projects that are not going into service in rate base.  You don't have anything in the application about replacement projects, but what I'm hearing from you is that it's not possible to reduce the revenue requirement to account for these projects -- I shouldn't say it's not possible.  You're not proposing to.

Do you have any comment on that?  Isn't this -- aren't these reductions you could make to the requested payment amounts?

MR. ARNONE:  As I mentioned, the asset investment screening committee and the dollar values associated with maintaining our units at the level of reliability that's necessary has us bring forward other projects to fit into that envelope of $172 million.

MR. DERMARKAR:  Also, if I can add to what Mr. Arnone said, the $172 million, we've established through benchmarking, is the appropriate amount.

The issue of identifying exactly what work will be done, we've identified a large portion of the work that will be done, but it's not a hundred percent because issues do arise during the interval, the test interval, where we will need to add new capital projects.

We are confident that the $172 million-per-year number is a sound number to sustain the reliability of the asset, and is also within our capacity to execute.

It's a combination of the two.

MR. LAWRIE:  If I could take you to Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 5A, we provide a listing of facility projects of work to be released.  And that is identified projects that are in our process to review and implement as higher-priority projects.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that reference?

MR. LAWRIE:  Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 5A.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  I have that table now.  Could you please repeat that?

MR. LAWRIE:  So you were questioning we didn't have work available to invest in the capital in our facilities to maintain them at a high degree of reliability.

In this evidence, it lists the projects that are on deck to be reviewed and implemented if financially justified in the capital portfolio.

MR. MILLAR:  And what do you mean "if financially justified?"

MR. LAWRIE:  Well, that each, before we start any project, we do a business case, and we look at the economic benefits and ensure that it's a sound investment before proceeding.

MR. MILLAR:  And have you done business cases for these projects?

MR. LAWRIE:  Not all these projects have business cases yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And to the extent there are business cases for these projects, they didn't form part of this application?

MR. LAWRIE:  No.  The start dates are identified.  Most of them are in 2010, the starting date.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, in fact, most of them -- yeah, I suppose.  There's a bunch in 2011 and a bunch in 2010, and just one in 2009?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I'd like to ask a few more questions about, essentially, what happened between 2008, when you had the first business case summary, and I think it's April, in fact, of this year when the new business case summary came in.

I understand the chief change was that the original BCS had the maintenance facility being inside the protected area; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And, sorry, what is the protected area, just to complete the record on that?

MR. ARNONE:  There is an area that surrounds our nuclear power plant that is fenced in, and that forms part of the operating island.  And that is -- so inside that, the security fence that surrounds that particular power plant, is what we would refer to as our protected area.

MR. MILLAR:  And the new business case summary has it moved to outside the fence; is that fair enough?

MR. ARNONE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, you do go some way to providing an explanation in the business case summary itself, on page 9 of the Staff booklet.  That's page 2 from the business case summary.

If you look at the very bottom, there is -- the final paragraph says:

“In the previous partial release, May 2008..."

And I assume that's the previous business case summary?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  "...the project had recommended a new 
maintenance facility inside the protected area.  Since then, further engineering and cost estimations, including the lessons learned from the Darlington construction change room project, has determined that the proposed facility could not be built inside the protected area within the funding limit of $50 million set by the board of directors.  The current estimate of the NMF inside the protected area is about $83 million, including contingency.  The decision was made to relocate the facility outside the protected area to stay within the funding limit."

So first of all, I guess the costs really did balloon, eh?  They essentially doubled from about 40 million, which are showing in the application, to over $80 million?

MR. ARNONE:  The projected costs to build the same facility in getting, again -- when the original number was put in, the engineering had not been complete.

As we went further in our project management processes, we were able to determine, through actual engineering, estimating and looking at other projects like the change room, that allowed us to then predict what the new cost would be if we were going build the same facility.

MR. MILLAR:  But the increase is very significant.  Would you agree with me on that?

MR. ARNONE:  The increase is very significant, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Should this give us any cause for concern?  I know -- I don't have a lot of questions about the Darlington refurbishment, but the extent that -- what I would have thought -- and this is my completely non-educated opinion in this area, certainly -- is that a maintenance facility would have been one of the easier things to predict the costs of.

Should this give us any concern about the company's estimate for Darlington refurbishment as a whole?  I assume your answer is no, but I thought I would put that to you.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.  And the answer is no, and it's qualified in the reasoning that the ability to develop the estimates and understand the engineering and the materials and work that goes behind each of our projects is the analysis that's going into the work that's happening not only on this project, but on the refurb project and anything else that we're executing.

So we look at that, through that process, and are able to then predict the costs.

Knowing what those costs are, then, allows us to make the right business decisions.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Moving along, I assume your original decision to have the maintenance facility within the protected area, obviously you had some reasons for that, I take it, and I'm guessing one of them would be certain operational benefits, that people who use the facility don't then have to go in through the protected area.

Would you care to comment on things like that?  In other words, why was it originally inside the protected area?

MR. ARNONE:  It was originally inside the protected area to take advantage of a location that was there that allowed people not to have to go in and out of the security boundaries, and allowed for certain other types of work to be done in close proximity to the plant.

By moving the facility outside, we are still able to take considerable advantage, because we've moved the type of work into that facility that is done outside of the protected area.  That allowed us to free up space inside the protected area, inside the building, that we could give proper space for some of those activities to still be done.

So it was actually the best decision for us as an organization to be able to get the best utilization of our staff and equipment and resources and so on.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But there are certain operational benefits attendant to having the facility inside the protected area; is that fair?

MR. ARNONE:  There were, but by taking some things out of the protected area that didn't need to be there, we actually freed up the space that we needed.

So we were able to compensate for the need to have the facility within the protected area.

MR. MILLAR:  So you haven't lost any of those operational benefits?

MR. ARNONE:  Absolutely not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Finally, I just want to ask one more question on this.

If you could flip to page 12, this is, again, an excerpt from the business case summary.  You'll see about halfway down the page, there's a reference to Darlington refurbishment.  And then the second paragraph under that states:

“The start date for infrastructure construction within the protected area outside the powerhouse for the refurbishment program is early 2013.  This will require the current Darlington maintenance facilities in the area targeted to be replaced by refurbishment facilities to be vacated and ready for demolition by 2013.  As such, the NMF project is on the critical path for Darlington refurbishment program."

Do you see that?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So essentially, you have to finish this project before the Darlington refurbishment commences; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  It's one of the critical items for allowing the space that we need, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure that answers my -- my question is:  You have to finish this project before you start the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. ARNONE:  It's one of -- it's one of many, so yes, we would -- we would want to finish this project before we start the refurbishment.

MR. MILLAR:  And to be clear, want to or have to?

MR. ARNONE:  Have to.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  And to the extent there are delays in this project, there would be delays in the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. ARNONE:  It goes back to why I was having the difficulty in answering the question that definitively.  And the answer is it is one of the elements that goes into the entire planning of the refurbishment project.  So, yes, we want this done.  Without this, we have sort of compensatory actions that would allow us to utilize other space.

We would not let this stop the refurbishment of Darlington, but we do want it done, because it allows for the easiest transition into that project.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So under no foreseeable circumstances would a delay in this project lead to a delay in the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. ARNONE:  No.  This would not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you said you would jig some things around if it ever came to that.  Would there be costs attendant with that?

MR. ARNONE:  I don't -- we haven't put costs associated to that, because our objective in our plan and the project's status tells us that this project will be done in time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I'm going to move on to my last area.  And these are some -- an entirely new area about contingency amounts.  And I think the best place to start would probably be page 15 of the Staff booklet, and this is Board Staff IR No. 47.

We asked you some questions regarding the contingency amounts you had requested through your business plans and the amounts you had actually used.  And you've provided a chart there in the middle of the page.  And, first, I just want to make sure I -- we're clear on what the chart is stating.

The first three lines, it says, "Contingency Planned" in the business case summaries, and then there's a total.  And we see $17.1 million and 22.7, for a total of just under $40 million.

First, can you confirm for me that these are the contingency amounts that were in the business case summaries?  That's what that number is referring to?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then if we look down to line 4, it says "Contingency Approved", and we see $6 million and $12.7 million.  Do you see that?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And "Contingency Approved" means the contingency you actually spent; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the total contingency you actually used was $18.7 million in 2008 and 2009?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's about half of what was in the business case summaries; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I assume these business case summaries formed the basis of OPG's application to the Board for the last payment amounts hearing?

MR. LAWRIE:  I don't have the dates specifically on when these business case -- which particular ones were in the evidence and which may have started after.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So we may not be looking at a dollar-for-dollar analysis.  But to the extent the Board approved OPG's OM&A plans that were based on these business case summaries, they would have approved more contingency than you actually spent; is that fair?

MR. LAWRIE:  No.  I think we need to go back and understand how we manage the project portfolio, and the portfolio is managed to a ceiling, a budget ceiling, and we progress projects up to that ceiling amount.  And if we have to utilize contingency on one project, we look at where available room is in the portfolio for that year to accommodate that contingency allocation, which may mean not starting a project as planned, or it may mean slowing a project.

But the objective is to utilize, through the asset investment screening committee, the full value of the portfolio allocated budget.

MR. MILLAR:  So you might delay projects or you would shift contingency where one project was underspent, for example?  I want to make sure I understand how this plays through.

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.  What we would do is we have a defined budget for the year, annual year.

MR. MILLAR:  Defined O&M budget?

MR. LAWRIE:  O&M budget.  And we load that or, if you like, allocate projects against that budget.

If a project -- and that's all per plan, planned work.  If a project has a need to utilize contingency that was approved in the business case, but not budgeted for that year, we look at the portfolio standing at that time.  If there's unallocated budget, then we would utilize that unallocated budget to cover the contingency.

If there is not, we would look at opportunities to slow down projects or defer the start of a project, or possibly another project may have been completed under budget or not performing.  It may have had difficulties acquiring materials from vendors and not have spent the money as planned, and so that would free up budget to allocate to the contingency for the particular project that needed it.

MR. MILLAR:  So your budget, your O&M budget, does not include the contingency amounts?

MR. LAWRIE:  O&M budget in the budget portfolio does not include contingency.  We manage the projects to the planned work, and if they need contingency that was approved in the business case, they come back to the screening committee and seek approval, and then we allocate that budget from within the portfolio budget for that year.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So just let me give you an example.  Imagine you have ten projects that give you an O&M budget of $100, and they're $10 each.  First question:  The $10 does not include contingency; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if one -- if project A uses a contingency -- if the first two projects each use contingencies of $5, you would simply lop off the bottom project and you would stick with the overall budget of $100?

MR. LAWRIE:  We would stick -- yes, that's correct.  It may not just be lop off the lower priority project.  There may be a project that's not performing to plan.  So project number 3, for example, may not have been able to buy the materials it needed as planned and has unspent budget for that year.  And we would allocate that budget from that project to the other project.

I just want to make sure we're clear, is that $10 is the planned amount to be spent not including contingency.  The business case would have had an economic evaluation performed including contingency.  So the business case in this case would have been for approving a $15 project --


MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. ARNONE:  Where you'd ascribe the $5 being the contingency.

MR. MILLAR:  So to ensure we're clear, are you saying that whether or not a project uses part or all of its contingency amount is essentially irrelevant to your O&M budget?

MR. KEIZER:  Essentially.

MR. MILLAR:  So to the extent it is used, it's made up elsewhere?

MR. KEIZER:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  It's a zero-sum game?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So to the extent the Board approves an O&M budget for OPG, it's not approving any contingency amounts?

MR. ARNONE:  We're approving that we will invest -- that's correct.  We will invest in the projects, the O&M projects, to the amount of that budget.

MR. MILLAR:  And you're not requesting any contingency amount within your revenue requirement or within the payment amounts?

MR. ARNONE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Interesting.  Okay, that may or may not shorten my cross, although I still do want to carry on with some additional questions.

Could I ask you to turn to page 18 of the Staff booklet?  This is a non-confidential version of a confidential undertaking response.  And what Staff -- again, I was trying to paraphrase these, and I run the risk of getting it wrong.

You've copied the question above, but of course the question was a number of things.  You've done your own summary there.  But the first thing I'd like to ask you is that Staff presented a table to you that tried to calculate the contingency amounts that you were assuming for the two test years.

And you came back to us and said, No, no, you've got that wrong.  And you provided us with a corrected table, and that was attachment A to this undertaking response?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And we have not produced that here, because it's confidential.  I do want to ask you a question about it.  If you have it handy, that's great, but I'm not sure you will need it in front of you.  But I'll ask you the question.  If you need to pull it up, that's fine, though do, of course, be careful not to say any of the magic words on the record.

We asked you to provide the contingency amounts for the two test years, and I wanted to be clear if this table was showing us the total contingency amounts across all years for the business case summaries, or if it is in fact limited to the two test years?

MR. LAWRIE:  It's not necessarily limited to the two test years.  It depends on the status of the BCS.

So, for example, where we have a full release project and we have a contingency amount, that contingency may be allocated across the project if it's going to be consumed from a planning perspective.

But if the project is a developmental, they may project future contingencies that may be needed in the next release but are not currently released yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the answer is it's not necessarily just 2011 and 2012?

MR. LAWRIE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to just provide us with the figures for just 2011 and 2012?  That's what we were trying to get from the beginning, and not necessarily through any fault of yours, we've gone through a number of iterations of a question and it seems like we haven't got it yet.

Is this something that you can provide us with?

MR. LAWRIE:  Sorry, I just want to be clear.  The question you're asking us for is what is the contingencies associated with each of the years for business cases that we may not spend?  Or that we have allocated for that particular year, in the event that we might spend it?

MR. MILLAR:  The business case summaries have contingency amounts.

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I'd like to know what those contingency amounts are that are associated with the two test years.

MR. LAWRIE:  Okay.  So for all the business cases in the two test years?  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  The amounts associated -- the contingency amounts associated with the two test years.  Is that okay?

MR. LAWRIE:  That may be a significant amount of work to extract.  We'll have to check.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll leave it at that, and I don't know if that's a best-efforts undertaking, or a...

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe the -- I guess we could say it's -- we could use our reasonable efforts to see if we can calculate it, and if it's problematic, we'll come back.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think I'd be happy with that.

MR. LAWRIE:  And just a follow-up question.  Is that for the OM&A and capital projects?

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to add it to capital.  And I'm cognizant of Mr. Keizer's caution from before.  I think that information would be helpful to have for capital, as well.

In fairness, we did not ask for that specifically when we had an opportunity through the interrogatories.  And maybe, subject to -- we've heard some stuff about contingencies that I actually wasn't aware of before.  If 
-- to the extent OPG objects to that, I'll be in the Board's hands here.  We would like to ask for that for the capital amounts, as well.  But I'm in the Board's hands, and subject, of course, to what Mr. Keizer has to say.

And while I'm on this topic, before he responds, I was also going to ask -- and again, being in the Board's hands -- to have the chart from table -- from Board Staff 47, that's the one on page 15.  We had asked for O&M for 2008 and 2009, and I was going to ask to have capital added to that.

And again, I'm cognizant of what Mr. Keizer said before.  These are things we perhaps could have asked for through the interrogatory process.  And I'll be in the Board's hands as to whether or not they think that would be of assistance.

MR. ARNONE:  The amount, as Mr. Lawrie spoke to earlier, though, is independent of what would be used within the test period.  We will manage to the envelopes that we've requested, and therefore regardless of the amount of contingency that's included on any one project, the total amount of expenditures for the years is as documented in our evidence.

So we are asking for --


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I'll cut you off.  And I think, subject to everything we've already heard and the way that the process actually works, I don't think we need that anymore.  It's probably not a particularly helpful set of numbers to have, given what we now know.

But I would ask for the 20 -- for the previous part, the 2011 and 2012 parts, subject to Mr. Keizer's possible objection.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, so -- sorry, I don't mean to belabour this.  I'm just trying to understand.

So for 2011 and 2012, you're looking for the contingency amounts by project for capital and for OM&A?


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry?  2011 and 2012, yes.


MR. KEIZER:  Contingency amounts for each project for?

MR. MILLAR:  Associated with the two test years.

MR. KEIZER:  And so, basically, whatever's baked into every business case summary?  Is that the idea?

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I'll drop the capital one entirely.  Mr. Battista is telling me it's really not going to help to have capital.  So just for OM&A.

And I think you had already agreed to provide that.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.  I think we agreed to OM&A.  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And we'll call that J5.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.13:  to PROVIDE CONTINGENCY AMOUNTS BY PROJECT FOR OM&A FOR 2011 AND 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  Just a couple more questions.

If you could turn to page 19, this is the same confidential -- non-confidential version of the confidential undertaking response.  We'd asked for some information as to why the contingency amounts had been what appeared to be overstated, versus what was actually spent.  And you stated, and this is starting at line 7:

“The primary factor in determining the contingency for this project and all projects was project manager judgment.  To assist in this task, the project manager assessed 18 contingency criteria, including, for example, resource availability, constructability, familiarity, and scope definition."

Do you see that?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So essentially how it works is your managers have a set of inputs or guidelines or criteria, but essentially, they use their own judgment to come up with the contingency amounts?

MR. ARNONE:  So what happens in the project management process in OPG, we use the process built on the Project Management Institute.

When we're at a different stage of a project, there are -- the methodology behind the development of the contingency is established based on that project.

In our evidence on D2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 10, we go through very specifically how the contingency is established based on the level or the phase that the project is in.  So if it's in the definition phase, if it's in the initiation phase, in the execution phase, it's built at -- it's built different ways.  Ultimately, the project manager is accountable to deliver that final estimate.  And when we mean that the project manager becomes involved, they have the ability to say:  Based on my experience, my knowledge of what's happening, the process may say that I put in a contingency of 22 percent for an element like this.  I believe that I know enough information to make that particular element 10 percent.

And that's the kind of judgment that's put in.  It's not an overall:  I'll just guess that my project might need contingency of an extra $50 million, or anything.

It's very specifically done, and there's criteria, and it's based on, again, industry best practices.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And there's 18 criteria?

MR. ARNONE:  In ours, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you've given us four; is that correct?  Those would be resource availability, constructability, familiarity, and scope definition?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.  And many of those are broken down into further subsections.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the full list confidential?  Is there any reason we couldn't have that?

MR. ARNONE:  I don't believe that the full list is confidential.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So could we have an undertaking for the list of the 18 criteria?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  J5.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.14: to PROVIDE LIST OF 18 CONTINGENCY CRITERIA.

MR. MILLAR:  And it seems -- and maybe I've got this wrong, because maybe I don't quite understand how it works -- but the fact that, if you flip back to our Staff IR 47 at page 15, obviously the amounts that were in the business case summaries are significantly more than the amount ultimately approved.

Do you see that?  And by "approved" I mean spent.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  To me that looks like you have a forecasting problem, or for some reason people are significantly overstating the contingency amounts.

But first let me put that to you.  Have I got that right?  Is this actually a problem, that they are -- that the amounts in the business case summaries are significantly more than what was actually spent?

MR. ARNONE:  No.  In fact, again, taking back to project management best practices and the process that we use, these are very consistent with what you would find in industry.  We've established them that way.

And what I think it demonstrates is OPG's performance on being able to bring their projects in, without having to utilize all their contingency.

MR. MILLAR:  So you're not dissatisfied by the results of this table?

MR. ARNONE:  In fact, we're quite satisfied that we're driving the right levels of performance in the business to get our jobs done below what would be an expected or an approved cost.

MR. MILLAR:  And you haven't made any changes to either the criteria or training for your managers in setting contingency amounts?

MR. ARNONE:  Well, we've done quite a bit, as we've documented in our process, again, in D2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 11, where we talk about our project management improvements, and bringing in best practices and the way we manage the business.

So we've taken in things like value engineering.  We've done basis of estimate cost -- cost estimates, we've used AACE standards, which is the American Association of Cost Engineering, to be able to drive the performance of our project portfolio.

The levels that we've used are very consistent with what's used in the Project Management Institute.  And we drive our project managers and our performance to be able to get those values below.

We approve at BCS on a particular value which includes contingency, and that means each project is of value to our corporation at the total spends.  It's that much more important to us to get it below that cost so that we can continue to demonstrate that we perform and execute our projects on time, on schedule.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.

Madam Chair, again, I apologize for going over.  I got some responses that I genuinely didn't expect, but I am finished.  So thank you, panel, and thank you for your indulgence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  I think we'll take the break now, but just to verify, Mr. Rubin, I have you for about a half an hour?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And is that still accurate?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, I may beat it, but why don't I stay with the 30 minutes?

MS. CHAPLIN:  And, Mr. Crocker, I have you down for three-quarters of an hour.

MR. CROCKER:  I hope to be less than that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, excellent.  Because we would like to complete this panel today, but we do intend to finish by 4:30.  So we hope you gentlemen can stick by your estimates.  So we'll rise now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:51 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:08 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rubin, I believe you're next.


MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Panel, I'm Norman Rubin.  I represent Energy Probe.  I want to start with maybe a funny question.  Until now, I've noticed that the job descriptions of the witnesses and the evidence they're responsible for tend to fit like a glove.  And Mr. Arnone, I'm curious that you're the vice-president of Darlington refurb and we're not going to have the pleasure of asking you questions about that.  What's going on?

MR. ARNONE:  My -- so I was the director of projects and modifications, which was accountable for this evidence at the time.  I've since been promoted to this position, and my colleagues on that panel will be able to answer all of your questions.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  That was my first guess.

Mr. Arnone, earlier today, when Mr. Millar asked you to explain your approach, which as I understand it, is seeking approval for a budget total and not seeking approval for the specific projects or not being bound to a specification of the projects, you said that was the result of your benchmarking exercise.

Did I hear that correctly?

MR. ARNONE:  I believe that that was my colleague Mr. Lawrie that spoke to that, but that is correct, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I'll take an answer from either of you.

I take it by that you mean that this top-down budget process, which is based on targets that were partly derive from the benchmarking exercise done by ScottMadden, that that was how these numbers were arrived at; is that fair?

MR. LAWRIE:  We had taken benchmark information, and we looked at where we stood in the rankings, and we applied top-down budget settings.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.

MR. ARNONE:  Sorry, I don't believe that that was from the ScottMadden.  We looked at other utilities and looked at other organizations to see a typical spend on a nuclear power plant in the way that we developed the project portfolio part of our budgets.

So there are multiple pieces.  But investing in our units is developed from information that we gather through benchmarking with our utilities.

MR. RUBIN:  Here's my real question, which is:  Can we agree that what you did not mean, and what is not in your testimony, you did not mean that you went to your peer group utilities and found that they work this same way, choosing a number and getting regulatory approval for the number, without presenting their regulator with a list of projects that they really intend to do and getting approval for that?

MR. ARNONE:  I can't speak to how the other organizations get their projects approved.

I can only speak to the total dollar value and how that's developed within the -- our organization.

MR. RUBIN:  And Mr. Lawrie, if you made the original reference to benchmarking in this context, you also did not mean that other thing, that the procedure was taken from benchmarks or from a benchmarking operation?

MR. LAWRIE:  No.

MR. RUBIN:  While I'm here, does anybody else -- is anybody familiar with another utility that approaches the operation the way you're proposing here?  Choosing the envelope of the number and saying:  That's how many dollars we plan to spend.  We'll do it wisely?

MR. ARNONE:  Another regulated utility?

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.

MR. ARNONE:  I'm not aware of any regulated utilities that have the same approach.

MR. RUBIN:  You're putting so much stress on that word, it makes me think you have an unregulated one in mind.  Is it true?

MR. ARNONE:  Again, we've built it off of information from utilities across North America, and the envelope approach comes from the fact that -- in terms of project spends, comes from what's necessary to maintain our assets.

So it's the approach that we've taken, is the approach that we believe is best for making sure that we invest in our units to keep them at the right level of reliability.

MR. RUBIN:  But that's the approach that leads to the choice of a number; correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  It's not necessarily the approach that needs -- that leads to keeping the details of how that number will be spent under your hat, until it's spent?

MR. ARNONE:  Well, at no time did we keep the information under our hat.

As we alluded to in the evidence, all of the projects that we intended to spend dollars on at the time are listed.  In cases where projects have been deferred or other things have happened, we have -- and as Mr. Lawrie demonstrated, the tables in here that show other projects that we would bring forward and begin and execute in replacement of those projects.

So all of the information is here.  Nothing is under our hats.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll move on.  In the tables to Exhibit D2-1-2, I want to take you to table 4A, if I can.  I'm sorry, I did not circulate documents, and I have to find it myself.

And I want to ask you -- I see some anomalous results.  This is perhaps along the lines of the questions Mr. Millar was asking you about, things that didn't seem to add up.  And I haven't looked at a lot of them, but I've looked at a few and I don't understand the story behind the numbers.

For example, on line 28 of that table, I believe, there's a project that was budgeted at $19.6 million, and I believe this is an in-service addition, and it came in at zero.

What does it mean?  Why is it meaningful?  And why do I care what the total is of those kinds of lines?

MR. LAWRIE:  Okay.  So the budgeted amount of 19.6 is what we had budged to come into service in 2009.  That project was actually not completed, and therefore there was no capital addition in 2009 under the "actual" column.

MR. RUBIN:  I guess -- I guess I'm at a loss, because usually when I look at budget and actual in-service, I would think that if you came in under budget, it would mean that you got the work done for less money, and here you're including budget items for things that you ended up just not doing.

I guess I'd like to know is there a lot of it in this document, if I look through the other tables.  Are there things like that that show up as in-service at zero, when really they're not in-service at all, because you decided not to do them?

MR. LAWRIE:  There are some projects that -- and if I can maybe describe, let's say a project was planned to be completed in November, declared in-service, and let's say it was a $19.6-million project.  And in fact, it suffers some delays of a few months, and it comes in-service a few months later in the next year.

It would not show up as in-service actual 2009.  It would show up as in-service actual 2010, for example.

So you would see zero as the actual in-service amount in the 2009 column "actuals" and it would show up later on as actual in-service.

MR. RUBIN:  Is there a chart in your evidence that lets us compare what you were planning to spend on projects and what you actually spent doing those projects that does not -- that is not, I would say, distorted, that is not affected by either deferrals or decisions to skip them completely?

MR. ARNONE:  There are tables in that same reference, in table 1A, that talks about what we thought we were going to release.

Are you looking for actuals versus -- maybe I need to understand the question.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  I'm looking for actual compared to budget, on what I would consider an apples-to-apples basis, where:  Here's the budget we set for doing these jobs, and here's how much we actually spent to do those jobs, as opposed to some other jobs or fewer jobs or whatever.

MR. ARNONE:  I just want to make sure I understand the question correctly, because as I was about to say, in our table 1a, we talk about what the budget was versus what the actuals ended up.  But I'm not sure that I'm answering your question specifically.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, perhaps you are.  Well, if that's what that does, then I'll take that as an answer.  I have no problem getting a good answer.

MR. ARNONE:  Okay.

MR. RUBIN:  I like them.  If I can turn you to Exhibit D2-1-1, table 1, which you discussed earlier with my friend, Mr. Warren, as soon as I can find it... I think this is a simple question.  Oh, I know where I put it.

He asked you whether that table includes Darlington, and you told him that it does.  And I take it that -- I take it that means it includes the cost of Darlington refurbishment in those years; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Is all of that in the line marked "Generation Development Capital"?

MR. LAWRIE:  It's the capital work associated with the refurbishment project, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  So that line includes the Darlington refurbishment spend and it includes nothing else; is that correct?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.  It's the Darlington development capital, yes, the refurbishment capital.

MR. RUBIN:  Good.  Thank you.

I'm afraid I want to go back to the first document, the tables for D2-1-2, table 5a, "Capital Project Listing".  And I'm interested especially in the top line, the item Darlington Nuclear Generating Station, "Passive Auto Catalytic-Recombiners", "Regulatory", "2009".

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me get it in front of me so I can not be at a disadvantage.  And this is still to be released as we speak, as it was when the evidence was produced?

MR. LAWRIE:  Subject to check, to my understanding, that BCS has been approved.

MR. RUBIN:  It has been approved?

MR. LAWRIE:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I guess maybe this is a little more academic than it was -- used to be.  This is regulatory meaning that the impetus to do it, basically, came from your nuclear safety regulator, the CNSC; correct?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And recombiners, as I understand it, are gizmos that take hydrogen out of the air which might explode under accident scenarios and turns it under water which can't explode?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is essentially correct, under very severe accident scenarios.  That is correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And passive ones, I guess, are those that don't require a source of electricity, which, under extreme circumstances, might not be there, and that's why your regulator likes them; is that it?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Your understanding is spot on, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  How do you get to postpone these so that you were going to do it in 2009, and we're near the end of 2010 and it's just been released?

MR. DERMARKAR:  The -- this is -- the issue of the need for passive auto-catalytic recombiners has been under discussion with the CNSC, with our regulator - the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission - for some years.  There is -- in order to resolve a longstanding issue, we have agreed with the regulator that we will, on a trial basis, install passive auto-catalytic recombiners to assess their effectiveness for addressing this longstanding issue.

We have demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the regulator, that the units as they stand today are safe to operate.

What the passive auto-catalytic recombiners do is they add additional margin where we have uncertainty for an extremely low frequency and very severe accident, accidents that we call severe accidents, so they occur at a frequency typically less than one in a million years.

And the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission is satisfied with the case that we have put together.

And this project, if I may add, just to emphasize, it installs them at Darlington, for example -- it installs them at both Pickering and Darlington -- Pickering A and Darlington.  The Darlington installation is just on a trial basis.  We'll be putting one in -- putting them in in one unit, assessing their effectiveness, before making a decision to go large scale to all units.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  Let me move on.

Exhibit F2-3-1, table 1, and -- I said table 1, but I'm looking at the text of section 3.1.  I hope I haven't misled you.  "OM&A Project Drivers", do you see that?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Good.  And I have a paragraph that I guess I will read to you:
"Regulatory projects have historically been a major factor in project OM&A expenditures, and remain so throughout 2010, largely due to projects related to Darlington environmental qualification and the probabilistic risk assessment upgrade project. Beyond 2010, sustaining projects provide the single largest driver for identified major project OM&A costs. However, the potential exists for emergent regulatory project requirements."


Did I get that right?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I've noticed in other -- a couple of times, while reading the evidence, there were estimates in the future for budget and plan years that showed declining levels of activity in a number of areas, but the decline was not reflected in the budget.

In other words, there is a diminishing number of known expenses of a certain kind as you go into the future.  However, the text would then say, historically, these things have cropped up at a pretty steady rate, so we're going to anticipate that they come in as fast as they go out.

This doesn't seem to be one of those areas.  In other words, isn't the need for capital projects for regulatory purposes -- isn't it pretty reliable?  I mean, isn't this something that tends to happen every time the regulator takes another look at a safety issue and finds another improbable way things could go very badly, and...

Isn't the reason to expect that it will come up, as you say it might -- wouldn't it be prudent to budget as if it will?

MR. ARNONE:  The way we've handled the budgeting process through the asset investment screening committee has regulatory projects that get -- as they're required, would get injected into that process with the highest priority.  So we have an envelope. If there are regulatory pressures that come to bear, or other discovery, it would come into our process, be evaluated against the rest of the work, and then would be executed that way.

So budgeting, we've budgeted the envelope that says we need to spend this much for -- to keep our units reliable, and, therefore, we will manage that budget depending on the different drivers that come into the process.

MR. RUBIN:  So I guess is it fair, then, to say that in these two categories, regulatory and sustaining, because regulatory projects are not only safety related, they're also dictated by a regulator that has the right to shut you down, they would take precedence over sustaining projects?  That would be what gets bumped, if need be?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.  A regulatory project would take precedence.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Panel, my name is David Crocker, and I'm cross-examining on behalf of AMPCO.

Madam Chair, of the myriad of projects in this section, I want to ask questions about two.  Maybe they're insignificant, but maybe illustrative, as well.

The first is the development or construction of a new cafeteria at Pickering.  Information with respect to that comes from a document sent under letter dated September 13th as a result of the technical conference.  And it's J2 -- I'm sorry, JT1.7, and it's a confidential document.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry.  I guess -- so for both projects, are you going to be referring to confidential documents?

MR. CROCKER:  No, the second project deals with the construction of a change room facility at Darlington, and is not -- the information is in -- not confidential information.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So for the one that's confidential, you propose to do that one first; is that --


MR. CROCKER:  Sure.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And is it your expectation you're going to need to actually refer to and put on the transcript the confidential information?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So what we'll do is we will go in-camera, and then we will ask, after the fact, for OPG to review the transcript and prepare a proposed redacted version.  Is that acceptable?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, that's fine.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So we will go in-camera now.

--- On commencing in camera at 3:28 p.m.


So I believe we're off the air, and I will just get -- well, Staff has disappeared -- someone to just double-check that, in fact, it isn't broadcasting.  So we go.

And I would just ask if there are any parties in the room who did not sign the undertaking or are not with the company, if they would leave.

MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, excuse me, this may be a stupid question, but why don't we deal with the non-controversial half -- the non-confidential half, while we're still in public session?  Isn't that what --


MS. CHAPLIN:  We could do that as well.

MR. CROCKER:  I'd rather --


MS. CHAPLIN:  We'll need to go back on the record at the end, though, to do any final clear-up at the end.

MR. RUBIN:  Oh, I see.  And Mr. Crocker would rather do them in this order.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  In the interim, Madam Chair, I -- by way of preliminary, we indicated yesterday that there would be four documents that we would be referring to, and so we didn't put together a compendium.

One of them is JT1.7.  The other deals with the change room, and I believes it is in volume 4, tab 4, part 2 -- I'm sorry, volume 4, part 2, tab 4.

And two interrogatories; they are under Issue 4.5, and they're AMPCO Interrogatories 13 and 14.

And with respect to JT1.7, the references will be to attachment 2, which is a post-implementation review of that cafeteria.

I should ask at the outset whether you gentlemen have the documents and are familiar with the projects.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, we have the documents and we're familiar with the project.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I proceed then, Madam Chair?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, please do.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  If any we can first deal with the cafeteria, if we could go to the chart on the bottom of page 16 of the PIR, please, and the -- as I understand that chart, the budget is -- the expected expense, the budgeted expense, is listed there in the second line as $5,215,000; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And that on April -- in April of 2007, there was a first superseding release of another 1,600,000, roughly; correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And then the last superseding release made the total for the project $8,615,000; correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And can you take, subject to check, that that's about 65 percent over-budget?

MR. ARNONE:  Subject to check, it's -- yeah, it's approximately 65 percent.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. ARNONE:  Sorry.  Yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Now, attachment 2 is a post-implementation review; that's correct, isn't it?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, it is.

MR. CROCKER:  And I don't know whether you do this routinely or not for projects where there is overspending or not, but if you look at this one, it is 87 pages long.

Do you agree with that?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, I do.

MR. CROCKER:  And this is for overspending on a cafeteria; correct?  87 pages of a post-implementation review?

MR. ARNONE:  The fact that it is a cafeteria project for us was less important than the learnings that had to come from any type of overexpenditure in our business.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you have any idea what the post-implementation review cost?

MR. ARNONE:  I don't know what it cost, but I know what it saved for us as a corporation going forward, in taking these lessons learned and applying them to other projects.  So it had significant impacts in making sure our future projects were done well.  So I think the costs were more than offset by the impacts that it had on future projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I'm not suggesting otherwise, but you don't know what the costs were?

MR. ARNONE:  I do not know what the costs were.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I assume that you expect that that a document like this would be reviewed by senior people, so that lessons could be learned by it?  You would agree with that?

MR. ARNONE:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you have any idea what the cost of that would be?

MR. ARNONE:  I don't.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do -- is this cafeteria -- was it to be or is it to be used by staff?

MR. ARNONE:  Yea, it's to be used by staff at our Pickering nuclear plant.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And do you know whether they pay for what they consume, or is it a free cafeteria?

MR. ARNONE:  Oh, it is a pay-for-what-you-consume cafeteria.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you have any idea -- did you do any work with respect to determining when there would be the return on investment, how long it would take before the investment was recouped?

MR. ARNONE:  An item like this, we are servicing some 3,500 people that work at our nuclear power plant, and not having a cafeteria to service our employees would be considered a detriment to the organization.

We have people that work on-shift, and would have no other place to be able to eat, so without this -- we believe that it's an essential part of our business.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm not suggesting it isn't, but I just wondered whether you made -- you did any planning to determine when your costs would be paid back.

MR. LAWRIE:  We expect an immediate payback by the employees using the cafeteria, but in terms of financial analysis, this project had a negative NPV.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's see if we can go through your post-implementation review to determine where the cost over-ends came from, and what we can learn from this.

We asked you in Interrogatory 13, if you could turn that up, please, generally speaking, why it cost so much.  And your answer was:
"Unlike a standard conventional commercial renovation, this work was carried out within the protected area of a nuclear power station.  The schedule of the project was driven by the location..."


Et cetera, et cetera.  Can you explain what you mean by that, the first station -- the first assertion you make that -- describe why it was significant that it was within the protected area of a nuclear power station -- why it's significant that it was within the protected area of a nuclear power station?

MR. ARNONE:  The operating within our nuclear power plant has a number of restrictions on it.  There are things like the security requirements to be able to get staff in to perform the work, and the availability of moving and getting them qualified to move in and work in what would be, outside, considered a conventional facility.

The materials that are used have to be more highly scrutinized because of their potential impact that they may have to our operating plant.

The location of the cafeteria is the services for our cafeteria, because of where the power supplies come from and the water, because, again, it comes from inside our power plant, had to be evaluated against their potential impacts to our plant.  So we had to use our engineering change control process.

We also have higher standards of fire protection that have to be followed versus if you were building a similar cafeteria in a unit that was offsite.

So there are a number of things that we've -- that we've explained there through our procurement, our planning, our integration, and, as I mentioned earlier, keeping 3,500 people with a location and some place to eat also had to be done, so that we could maintain our minimum complements, our staff, and the well-being of the organization.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you please turn to page 8 of the PIR, as you call it, post-implementation review, please?  And under the heading "Commercial Applications In A Nuclear Environment," you say:
"The PIR team found that the nuclear engineering change control..."

That's the issue you just mentioned, isn't it?

MR. ARNONE:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Right:

"...process is too rigorous and restrictive for commercial applications.  The ECC nuclear process requirements do not align with commercial applications."

So can I take it that what you are saying there is that by treating this as a nuclear project, by dealing with it as work carried out within a protected area of a nuclear power station, you were inappropriately dealing with a standard commercial issue, the operation or the construction of a cafeteria?

MR. ARNONE:  No, it's not inappropriate.  We were dealing with it because, again, of its location and its ties to operational systems within the plant.  That was a requirement, and, as you can see from that statement, it meant that as we were planning and estimating the cost of that project, that was one of the areas that we needed to improve on, because it clearly did not take into account the impacts of that process on building this cafeteria.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I'm going to go through some of the other recommendations in here, but -- under the same heading, but aren't you suggesting that it's inappropriate to deal with a commercial exercise like renovating a cafeteria in this way?  Isn't that what the recommendations of the PIR are?

MR. ARNONE:  The recommendations of the PIR are for us to go back as an organization and look at more cost-effective ways to be able to execute this type of work.  We know that there were, and there have been, many opportunities where we've implemented similar conventional work that, from the information that was created in this PIR, has resulted in improved performance in the execution of those jobs.

So inappropriate it is not, because we have to follow our processes that align with where that particular cafeteria is.  But there were opportunities for us to develop better methods to handle that work.

[Page 188, line 27 to page 190, line 11 have been

redacted]

[Page 188, line 27 to page 190, line 11 have been


redacted]


MR. CROCKER:  And did you say to me earlier that you do -- you have learned from this and you do do that now?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  What's changed to allow you to do it now which prevented you from doing it then?

[Page 190, lines 17 to 24 have been redacted]


MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. ARNONE:  So we have been able to take that information, redevelop the way we manage the business, to be able to drive an incredible improvement in performance in those types of projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Was this the first type of commercial exercise, if I can call it that, that you did in a nuclear protected area?

MR. ARNONE:  Of that scale?

MR. CROCKER:  Period.  Of any scale.

MR. ARNONE:  Of any scale, ever?  No.

MR. CROCKER:  And did you not learn from the previous ones that it might be better to adjust the way -- adjust your processes, as you've said, to better reflect the fact that this is a commercial exercise, not one in a nuclear protected area?

MR. ARNONE:  What had changed?  We had 9/11.  That changed the security requirements for our nuclear facilities.  That also changed -- the engineering change control process changed as part of our licence and the way we were executing our work on site.  And so that is the first project of that magnitude, in terms of complexity and difficulty, that had been executed since those two changes were put in place.

[Page 191, lines 21 to page 194, line 23 


have been redacted]


[Page 191, lines 21 to page 194, line 23 


have been redacted]


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we go back to table 1 on page 6 -- or ahead, again, to page 16, it took almost three years to do this, didn't it?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How much of that was taken up by planning?

MR. ARNONE:  The planning that we're talking about is the pre-planning before the project starts.

And in this situation -- and again, you'll see with the number of superseding BCSs that we had to do on this project, it demonstrates that with further planning, with further work in terms of looking for discovery work, that that time wasn't spent sufficiently to be able to deliver this job on time and on schedule -- sorry, on time and on budget.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn with me, please, to 3.1.2, heading 3.1.2 on page 17?

The heading is:  "Business case alternatives."

Are you describing here part of the planning process?  That is, what was considered in terms of planning this cafeteria before it was done?  Is that what is being described here?

MR. ARNONE:  What is being described is the alternatives that went into the business case summary to develop what the costs would ultimately be.

So we picked a scenario, and then we went out and developed a cost estimate based on that.

MR. CROCKER:  So it's part of the planning process?

MR. ARNONE:  Effectively, yes.  Yeah.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And I suggest to you that there are three alternatives here, three bullets.  The first is:  Don't do it, leave the cafeteria the way it was.  The second is:  Do it.  And the third is:  To delay doing it.  Correct?

MR. ARNONE:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  No discussion here of -- to use a simple analogy -- to create the Cadillac of cafeterias at these costs, or perhaps doing a -- creating a Chevrolet cafeteria?  No discussion like that here, is there?

MR. ARNONE:  We would never have a discussion like that.  We only meet the minimum requirements that are necessary in all of our projects.

MR. CROCKER:  And you're suggesting that a cafeteria that took over two years to build, at a cost, ultimately, of over $8 million is the minimum?

MR. ARNONE:  What I'm suggesting is -- or I'm not at all suggesting that that's the minimum for this particular project.

As we've seen, we did not execute this one as we would today in our current processes.  However, the need for the cafeteria was very clear, and we needed to put something -- because the status quo, as mentioned on page 17, was not going to suffice for our employees -- to be able to handle 3,500 people working at that facility.  So the status quo was not an option.

We should have done better in this project.

[Page 196, lines 26 to page 198, line 22 


has been redacted]


[Page 196, lines 26 to page 198, line 22 


has been redacted]

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Now, I was going to suggest, at this point, that -- going to ask you at this point whether you had heard of or were aware of the evidence that had been given earlier, and that is with respect to the benchmark -- the O&M evidence with respect to benchmarking, and then I was going to ask you whether you thought it might be a good idea to avoid these kinds of things, to formalize a benchmarking process with respect to capital expenditures.

But I was surprised to hear from Mr. Dermarkar, I think it was, that you do do benchmarking with respect to capital projects.  Is that -- am I correct?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.  The statement that I made was we sized the size of our budget based on benchmarking information.  We went out and looked at what other utilities, nuclear utilities, would spend on a per annum basis and a per unit basis on their capital and O&M budgets for projects.

And then we used that information to determine the size of our portfolio, our project portfolio budget.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But you don't do benchmarking with respect to the way in which a capital project like this would be awarded; is that correct?

MR. ARNONE:  No, that is not correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. ARNONE:  So Ontario Power Generation is a member of the Construction Industry Institute, which is a North American-based construction organization that does work like this, and we do constantly work and have, as part of our improvement process now, been working much more closely to get better information on costs.

We work through the American Association of Construction Engineers.  We belong to the Construction Users Roundtable.

So OPG has taken a considerable step in its improvement processes, both in how we establish projects and how we execute them.

MR. CROCKER:  Were you involved with those organizations at the time that the contract was being awarded for this cafeteria?

MR. ARNONE:  Nuclear was not benchmarking with -- so parts of Ontario Power Generation on the thermal side and the hydraulic side, the hydro side, were active with one of those organizations, the Construction Industry Institute.

Nuclear has since taken a much larger role to be able to effect the improvements that we've put into our processes since then.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just so I understand your answer, was your answer, no, that you weren't benchmarking at this point?  You weren't involved with those organizations at this point?

MR. ARNONE:  Again, to answer the question, specifically, parts of Ontario Power Generation were involved; nuclear was not at the time.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You are -- the costs of this cafeteria are included in rate base, I think, what you are asking to be approved?

MR. LAWRIE:  It was placed in service in 2007, so it has been added to rate base as capital in service.

MR. CROCKER:  It has to be approved by this -- by the Board?

MR. LAWRIE:  No, this project was completed in 2007.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So it -- okay.  All right.

Those are all of the questions that I have with respect to the in camera document.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  We will -- we are back on air now.

--- On resuming in public at 4:02 p.m.

MR. CROCKER:  Can we then turn to the change room in Darlington?  If we could look at page 3, it appears that the cost of this project should have been or was budgeted to be $16,020,000?

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Crocker, what's the reference?  What document are you looking at?  You said refer to page 3, but I'm lost.  Page 3 of what?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, I'm sorry, volume 4.  Volume 4 of the prefiled, part 2.

[Board Panel confers]

MR. CROCKER:  Part 2, tab 4.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Page 3 was supposed to be $16,020,000, and came in at $23,781,000; correct?

MR. ARNONE:  The partial estimate or the $16,020,000 was developed at the time of the partial release.  That is consistent with our information in delta 2, tab 1, schedule 1, on page 8, where typically, when we're in the initiation phases, the estimate range, the estimate accuracy, as listed on line 26, is plus 60, minus 25, consistent with the Project Management Institute.

And at the time of the partial, the significant amount of engineering had not been completed, and, therefore, a number based on the information available of 16 was there.  When we went to the full release, the engineering had been completed, and, again, taking the section further into the definition phase, then the estimate becomes more final, because more engineering has been done.

And at page 8, line 29, typically 40 percent of the engineering is complete to be able to execute an estimate at that level.

So those numbers are consistent with the processes as outlined both in OPG documentation and the Project Management Institute.

MR. CROCKER:  That same issue is discussed on page 16 of the document, and it was what I was going to go to.  Maybe you could explain it, then, again to me.

In the second bullet on page 16, you say, "The original BCS".  Again, BCS is?

MR. ARNONE:  Business case summary.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, of course.
"...estimate was based on only partial design completion."

And then you go on from there.  Can you tell me, please, why you would base a cost estimate on partial design?

MR. ARNONE:  Again, very consistent with the processes, as I discussed in delta 2, tab 1, schedule 1, our projects run through the different phases of the project life cycle, as laid out in the Project Management Institute.  And you'll see that at the initiation phase, or the definition phase, that we will be asked to make judgments on what we expect the project to be, but there are boundaries by which the project -- the overall cost of the project falls within.

And so at the time, we would have been at a position where we would have had a range of plus 60 percent and minus 25 percent.

So what we've done is very consistent with all of the projects that we execute in OPG, and what you would find in most organizations following the Project Management Institute.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I'm not sure of the timing of this exactly, but has the costs -- have the costs of this project been included in rate base?  And if so, what costs have been?

MR. ARNONE:  If you would just bear with me for a moment while we look for the completion.

So the in-service amount is $23.8 million.  It was brought in, in -- final in-service date was June of 2010 -- oh, sorry.  The reference is D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1A, line 4.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, could you give it again, please?

MR. ARNONE:  Sorry, D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1A, line 4.

MR. CROCKER:  And $23 million is added to rate base, you're seeking approval?

MR. ARNONE:  That -- $23.8 million is within the envelope that --


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Would you agree with me, please, subject to check, that the cost of this change room is a thousand -- let me just get my reference here -- $1,252 per square foot?

MR. ARNONE:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you justify -- better word.  Can you explain how it can be so expensive?

MR. ARNONE:  As described in the BCS, the business case summary, the project was executed on a fast track.

It had to be completed by March of 2009.  This particular part of it had to be in-service, so that we could execute the vacuum building outage at Darlington.  Without this facility, we would not have been able to execute that outage, as we were bringing on incrementally somewhere around a thousand people that required that change facility and lunch facility.

The costs are driven by, again, the location.  We have to meet -- this facility has to meet the fire code requirements, has to meet the engineering change control requirements.  There are many things that are involved in the construction of that particular change room inside the protected area.

MR. CROCKER:  I want to deal with one issue that you raised.  You raised that as the initial issue, and I suggest it probably was the most significant one, and that is that it had to be done for your vacuum building outage; correct?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And that's something that -- that's a regulated requirement that you have a -- that outage every -- I think it's 12 years; is that correct?  Once every 12 years?

MR. DERMARKAR:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that you planned for it for quite some time?  It's a significant matter, and you planned for it for quite some time?

MR. ARNONE:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You knew it was coming a long time before it occurred?

MR. ARNONE:  We know it's coming on a 12-year cycle.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And you knew that you wanted to have that change room in place in time for that?

MR. ARNONE:  No.  What happened is the change room that was there was found to be uninhabitable, and within the timing of the initiation of the project, we found that the building had to be removed from service because of mould and other issues, and at that point, had to initiate a project for its replacement.

As you can appreciate, the Codes had changed from the time that the original change room had been built, because it was actually there from the beginning of station.  So now we had to follow today's Code, today's, both fire code, building codes, and all of the requirements both from a security standpoint and other for working inside a nuclear facility.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm not going to dwell on the issues that you spoke of, but does one discover that it's uninhabitable suddenly?

MR. ARNONE:  We had been repairing it for a number of years, and it had been functioning.

Again, our objective is not to spend money that -- unless it's absolutely necessary and adds value.  In this particular case, we could no longer continue to repair the facility and meet the occupational health and safety requirements.

We would not subject our staff or anyone to anything that doesn't meet the Occupational Health and Safety Act or any codes, and therefore deemed at that time that it was appropriate to build a new facility.

MR. CROCKER:  If you had started earlier, would the cost -- could the cost have been reduced?  If you had started your planning earlier, could the costs have been reduced?

MR. ARNONE:  I've never done that assessment.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you, panel.  I have no further questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have just one question I'd like to ask.
Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm look at Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2, page 6.  It's the description of the security projects.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. CHAPLIN:  D2, tab 1, schedule 2, page 6.

MR. ARNONE:  Yes, I have that now.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And section 2 is the security project description and need, and there's a list of the projects at the bottom.

And you comment that the information that's being provided is the same level of information that was provided in the prior proceeding.

So do we have in the evidence what the total cost of these projects are, altogether?

MR. ARNONE:  I don't believe we've captured the total cost of all those projects in any one place within the evidence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Would you be able to tell me, within some sort of margin, roughly what the total value of these projects is?

MR. ARNONE:  I could give you an approximate now.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That would be fine for now, yeah.

MR. DERMARKAR:  Actually, if I can offer --


MR. KEIZER:  It's got to be all of them.

MR. DERMARKAR:  Well, I have not verified if this answers your question fully, but D2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1A provides the costs of a number of security projects.  And we can check that against this list.

With the physical barrier system, project 25609 on this table is listed at $49.4 million.

And so on.  The controlled area improvements are listed as $15 million.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So that is -- is that most of them, sort of lines 17 through 21?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Lines 17 through 21, and then -- yes.

MR. ARNONE:  Actually, that is them.

MR. DERMARKAR:  That's it.  That's it.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.  So that -- I'm not very good with mental math.  What are we looking at in total there?  Is it about a hundred?

MR. DERMARKAR:  Let's see, 30, 80, a hundred, about 115.

MR. ARNONE:  115.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So how can we go about assessing or being assured that those types of projects are being done as efficiently as possible, given that the security issues result in fairly minimal information being provided in support of the application.  How should we go about looking at that question?

MR. ARNONE:  I think the way I would characterize those projects is based on our experiences in the execution of work that we've been able to -- that's taken place over the last number of years, that we are following the exact same project management rigour in the execution of those projects that we would in any of the projects.

So, as an example, the learnings that we got from the execution of the -- that cafeteria project, which wasn't one of our best, but was significant in helping us improve our processes.  We have since executed those projects for the dollars that we've been asked for.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So you're --


MR. ARNONE:  So they've been structured the same way, I guess is what I'm trying to say.  And based on the improvements that we've made and the number of -- we would call this a very similar commercial project, that we've been able to demonstrate that those controls are there for other projects that are on this same list in table 1a, and, therefore, the security projects are running exactly the same way.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So that goes to the issue of once you've set, established, a budget, the level of confidence both the company and others can have that they will be executed at that budgeted amount?

MR. ARNONE:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  What about the issue of the way you go about deciding what needs to be done to meet the security requirement, that you are actually developing a project proposal or the project itself is the best alternative?


MR. ARNONE:  So we do a number of things in the security area.  First, the regulator sets the requirements.  So the regulator provides us with criteria, provides us with guidance on what things we have to do.

We are -- because this is an industry issue for security projects of this type, and so with our counterparts both -- throughout Canada, we meet with all the other nuclear power plants and the leadership to be able to discuss how we, as an industry, are going to effect change.

So the things that we see at Pickering are consistent with what you would see across Canada.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Do you have any questions?  So the Board Panel has no further questions.  Do you have any re-examination, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I have no re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  This panel is excused with the Board's thanks.  
Procedural Matters:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before we rise for the day, just to go over what's happening on Monday.  So it will be panel 4, nuclear production forecast and outage OM&A; that's correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And am I correct that we need to do our very best to complete that panel on Monday because of availability?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, that's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And do we have a current estimate of the total --


MR. MILLAR:  We do, Madam Chair, and I think we will comfortably finish on Monday if people stick to their estimates.  Do we have a number?  About three-and-a-half hours.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So, in that event, would the company also be planning to have panel 6 available?

MR. KEIZER:  Nuclear refurbishment?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then just to advise all the parties that on Tuesday, the 19th, we will only be able to sit in the morning, because of a commitment in the afternoon.  So we will sit probably till noon on Tuesday, but no later than that.  That's the 19th.

Are there any other matters?

All right.  Thank you very much.  Have a good weekend.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:21 p.m.
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